

REPUBLIC OF FIJI NATIONAL CLIMATE CHANGE POLICY 2018-2030



REPUBLIC OF FIJI NATIONAL CLIMATE CHANGE POLICY 2018-2030



Foreword

In line with our historic progress over the past decade, Fiji's development aspirations are immense and they are wide-ranging. We seek to continue the unprecedented growth of our economy, expand our networks of high-quality infrastructure, increase access to essential services, create and sustain employment for our people, protect our natural environment and build up our resilience to worsening climate impacts. None of these are standalone aspirations. Rather, they are all deeply inter-connected strategic objectives.

The Fijian Government has already mapped out – in great detail – exactly how we plan to implement our development agenda through Fiji's 5-Year and 20-Year National Development Plan. Those plans outline the way forward for Fiji in realising both the Sustainable Development Goals and the targets of our Nationally Determined Contribution to reduce carbon emissions under the Paris Agreement. Those plans both



Hon. Aiyaz Sayed-Khaiyum

acknowledge and account for the impacts of our changing climate. However, this accompanying policy, Fiji's National Climate Change Policy 2018–2030 (NCCP), presents a more detailed and deliberate articulation of Fiji's priorities in reducing present and future climate risks, while maximising our long-term gains in development.

Fiji has emerged as a respected champion on the international stage for the cause of climate action. As the President of COP23, Fiji led the global climate negotiations to serious progress in implementing the Paris Agreement and launched both the Ocean Pathway Partnership and the landmark Talanoa Call for Action. The key to Fiji's success has always been our unwavering commitment to a multi-sector approach, one that considers all perspectives and seizes on opportunities to exploit synergies between different actors to implement shared priorities.

In similar fashion, this policy document sets out a "woven approach" to resilient development that seeks to deepen engagement between different actors, from governments, to civil society organisations, to the private sector, to individual citizens. By putting forward new forms of collaboration, this document streamlines traditional roles and responsibilities by capitalising on natural commonalities and expands access to an ever-growing body of knowledge and experiences by aligning incentives and values in pursuit of a collective vision for a more resilient Fiji. The tapestry that we weave with this innovative approach – and our NCCP as a whole – will change and strengthen with time; this is a living document that will guide our decision-making through changing economic and geopolitical landscapes, and as such, we expect it to evolve with the needs of our nation.

The NCCP is a policy document that is defined by its foresight and evidence-based approach in reducing climate risks, with the aim of addressing the specific climate vulnerabilities faced by Fiji and the Fijian people. Importantly, this policy document lays the foundation for national climate change legislation in Fiji and sets out the most comprehensive game plan to-date of how Fiji plans to deliver on its Nationally Determined Contribution under the Paris Agreement. It also establishes a clear mandate for Fiji's National Adaptation Process and Plan and the implementation of Fiji's Low Emissions Development Strategy.

But what makes the NCCP such an historic policy for Fiji, its consistent focus on the Fijian people; not only on their wellbeing, but on their potential to drive forward and implement bold new solutions.

Within this document is a commitment, at every level, to capture and leverage the acute awareness of the Fijian people of the importance of our environment and of the strategies we can enact to build our resilience to climate change. It is a policy that outlines steady investment in solutions that empower our people, protect their progress, and allow them to raise their productive potential despite the worsening impacts of climate change. The scope of the NCCP not only supports the wellbeing of the Fijian people, it supports people from all around the world, as it paves the way for Fiji to achieve net zero carbon emissions by 2050, setting an example that all nations can and must follow to avert climate catastrophe for our world.

The climate risks present in Fiji today, along with those on the horizon, pose an extreme and unprecedented threat to our national progress and the security of our citizens. In response, every decision we make, at every level of government, must consider the impact of our changing climate. Our commitment on this issue must extend over the long-term. It is a struggle that will affect our country for generations to come, and we recognise that – regardless of the success of the Paris Agreement – our situation will grow more severe before things ever begin to improve. But rather than be intimated into inaction, the Fijian Government has laid out a comprehensive and achievable vision for our continuing progress and prosperity – a vision that is captured in this National Climate Change Policy.

That vision considers the local as well as the global, capturing our intention to find solutions here at home, while continuing Fiji's global leadership in driving decisive climate action. Alongside our fellow Pacific island countries, we will continue to press for ambitious international climate action to set the world on a more sustainable path, a path that leads to a stable, resilient and sustainable future for all Fijians, and all people on Earth.

HON. AIYAZ SAYED-KHAIYUM

Attorney-General and Minister Responsible for Climate Change

Acknowledgements

The Ministry of Economy would like to acknowledge and show appreciation for the active participation and contribution of national, regional, and international level stakeholders in all activities including through information gathering support, discussion participation, and the individual consultations required to develop the National Climate Change Policy 2018–2030. Specific acknowledgements are extended to recognise the support of: Ministry of Economy – Climate Change and International Cooperation Division, Ministry of Agriculture, Ministry of Waterways and Environment, Ministry of Disaster Management and Meteorological Services, Ministry of Forests, Ministry of Fisheries, Ministry of Health and Medical Services, Ministry of Industry, Trade and Tourism, Ministry of Education, Heritage & Arts, Ministry of Women, Children and Poverty Alleviation, Office of the Solicitor-General, Fiji Bureau of Statistics, United Nations Development Programme, Global Green Growth Institute and Fiji Women's Rights Movement, DIVA for Equality, Pacific Islands Climate Action Network, Pacific Islands Association of Non-Governmental Organisations, University of the South Pacific, Fiji National University, Pacific Conference of Churches, Luke Gordon Photography, and all participants of the Divisional consultations. We appreciate the financial and technical support from Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) and Mr. Daniel Lund (Invoke Consulting) for the development of this national policy.

Abbreviations and Acronyms

CCA	Climate Change Adaptation
CCICD	Climate Change and International Cooperation Division
DRR	Disaster Risk Reduction
DRRP	Disaster Risk Reduction Policy
EBDM	Evidence-Based Decision-Making
ENS0	El Niño Southern Oscillation
FA0	United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization
GHG	Greenhouse-Gas
ICA0	International Civil Aviation Organization
IMO	International Maritime Organization
LEDS	Low Emissions Development Strategy
M+E	Monitoring and Evaluation
NAP	National Adaptation Plan
NCCP	National Climate Change Policy
NDC	Nationally Determined Contribution
NDP	National Development Plan
RCP	Representative Concentration Pathway
SDG(s)	Sustainable Development Goal(s)
SR1.5	Global Warming of 1.5C: an IPCC special report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty
UNEP	United Nations Environment Program
UNESCO	United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
WM0	World Meteorological Organisation

2

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Foreword	1
Acknowledgements	2
Abbreviations and Acronyms	2
Executive Summary	7
Policy Mandate	8
Vision 2050	8
Guiding Concepts, Principles, and Pillars	8
A Woven Approach to Resilient Development	8
Objectives and Strategies	9
1. Foundations	9
2. Dimensions	10
3. Pathways	11
INTRODUCTION	13
Policy Development Process and Consultation	14
Policy Relationships	15
Guiding Concepts	17
SECTION 1: INTENTION	19
Preamble	21
Vision 2050	25
Vision 2030	26
Overarching Policy Commitments	27
Policy Mandate and Purpose	28
Guiding Principles	30
Sustainable Wellbeing	30
Social Cohesion	30
Inclusivity	30
Transparency and Communication	31
Partnership	31
Integrated Learning	31
Agility	31
Urgency	32
Policy Pillars	33
1. Human Rights-Based	33
2. Gender-Responsive	34
3. Evidence-Based	35

SECTION 2: APPROACH	37
A Woven Approach to Resilient Development	39
SECTION 3: OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES	43
Policy Objectives and Strategies	45
1. National Risk Governance	47
2. Leadership and Global Climate Action	53
3. Climate Change Adaptation and Resilient Development	57
4. Climate Change Mitigation and Resilient Development	62
5. National Capacity Development	66
6. Sustainable Financing	68
7. Private Sector Transition and Engagement	71
SECTION 4: IMPLEMENTATION	75
Policy Implementation Arrangements and Governance	
Architecture	77
Accountability Statement	77
Legislation	77
Oversight	77
National Climate Change Committee	77
National Adaptation Plan Steering Committee	78
The Low Emissions Development Strategy Steering Committee	78
Cabinet Committee on Climate and Disaster Risk	78
Private Sector Advisory Board	79
Coordination	79
Sector and Ministry-Based Climate Change Focal Points	79
Climate Change and International Cooperation Division	79
Local and Sub-National Government	80
Policy Monitoring, Evaluation, Reporting, and Review	82
A focus on co-benefits	82
Monitoring and Evaluation Responsibilities	83
Policy Review Process	84
ANNEX 1 Treaties Supported by the NCCP	85
Endnotes	87
Works Cited	89



REPUBLIC OF FIJI: NATIONAL CLIMATE CHANGE POLICY 2018–2023

VISION

A resilient and prosperous Fiji, in which the wellbeing of current and future generations is supported and protected by a socially inclusive, equitable, environmentally sustainable, net-zero emissions economy.

POLICY PILLARS

- Human Rights-Based
- Gender-Responsive
- Evidence-Based

PRINCIPLES

- Sustainable Wellbeing
- Inclusivity
- Social Cohesion
- Partnership
- Agility
- Urgency
- Transparency and Communication
- Integrated Learning

A WOVEN APPROACH TO RESILIENT DEVELOPMENT

Foundations

- National Risk Governance
- Leadership and Global Climate Action

Dimensions

- Climate Change Adaptation and Resilient Development
- Climate Change Mitigation and Resilient Development

Pathways

- National Capacity Development
- Sustainable Financing
- Private Sector Transition and Engagement





Executive Summary

Climate change poses a significant threat to Fiji's national security, current and future development ambitions, economic and environmental stability, cultural practices, livelihoods, and human wellbeing.

Climate change is a complex development challenge¹ that requires an adjusted national approach to, and outlook on development. The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Special Report on 1.5°C illustrates the narrow timeframe in which global emissions must be drastically minimised to prevent further disruption to human and ecological systems. Changes to long-term climate patterns have already begun to alter the environmental trends and the integrity of vital ecosystems which Fijians have relied upon for generations. Climate change impacts and disaster events are driving up the cost of development in the Pacific, increasing investment uncertainty and further challenging efforts to eradicate poverty. For the Fijian Government and the Citizens of Fiji, it is clear that past experiences of disaster events, current development challenges, and future climate projections tell a story that runs contrary with national priorities and aspirations. Fiji has taken significant action, since the inception of the first National Climate Change Policy in 2012 to reduce the impacts of climate change through actions to build resilience and mainstream climate and disaster risk considerations and requirements into development planning and implementation. The launch of the Sustainable Development Goals and the endorsement of the Paris Agreement in 2015 were referred to by former United Nations Secretary-General, Ban Ki-moon as the 'twin plans for transformative progress by 2030'2. Fiji's National Development Plan calls for 'inclusive socio-economic development' and 'transformative strategic thrusts'³. To further these commitments a revised national policy on climate change is required. In order to address the scale of climate change induced-risks and implications, the Fijian Government is committed to prioritising actions that have potential to fundamentally transform sectors and behaviours.⁴

Weaving is a basic, inter-cultural, and international technology derived from the understanding that individual strands of a material become exponentially stronger when interconnected in a systematic way. The NCCP's Woven approach is concerned with strengthening through connectivity and the need to identify specific actions and objectives which enable, progress, and cross-cut a range of priorities. By focusing on common requirements and actions which potentially satisfy multiple priority areas, the effectiveness of policy implementation and the efficiency and utility derived from activities and resources is expected to be improved. This approach requires a deepened focus on the core determinants and drivers of national wellbeing.

² United Nations, 2016

³ Defined as: 'game changing forward-looking policy shifts to expand our development frontier and support the vision of transforming Fiji. New and emerging growth sectors will be nurtured, connectivity with and to the outside world will be embraced, productivity will be maximised, human capital development will be accelerated' (Government of Fiji, NDP 2018)

⁴ This approach dissuades investment in small ad-hoc, project-based, 'pilot' initiatives which can produce outputs which are unevenly distributed and linked to outcomes which are often short-term and variable in terms of impact.

Escalating climate risks require decision makers to assess the way in which climate change-driven impacts will affect various interrelated sectors, social circumstances, and natural resources. Decision-makers must also consider how these impacts will change under different global emissions scenarios and over short, mid, and long-term time frames. The variables and interconnectivity involved with these considerations are complex and require new development approaches, partnerships, data analysis tools, and planning systems to reduce risks. Furthermore, as a global issue, climate change must be mitigated and managed at international, regional, national, and local levels simultaneously, further complicating the range of considerations that must be taken into account by decision-makers.

Policy Mandate

The Fijian Government recognises that climate change threatens central national constitutional commitments and has endorsed the National Climate Change Policy (2018–2030) as a central policy instrument to protect Fiji's development priorities from current, future, and intergenerational climate change risks. The NCCP serves to anchor Fiji's national climate change response and *nationally determined commitment* under the *Paris agreement* within national policy and planning processes. The NCCP provides the overarching objectives that will define the evolution of Fiji's climate change adaptation and mitigation targets and support the delivery of the priorities set out within the NDP and SDGs. The NCCP creates the mandate for the *National Adaptation Process* and the *Low Emissions Development Strategy*. Finally, the NCCP provides the basis, rationale and guidance for progressing national climate change legislation, in the form of a *National Climate Change Act*. The *National Climate Change Act* will create the revised institutional arrangements and governance architecture required to institutionalise Fiji's climate change response under national law.

Vision 2050

A resilient and prosperous Fiji, in which the wellbeing of current and future generations is supported and protected by a socially inclusive, equitable, environmentally sustainable, net-zero emissions economy.

Guiding Concepts, Principles, and Pillars

Climate change is an *intergenerational risk* and requires a long-sighted approach. Fiji's *resilient development* pathway must be shaped by a multi-dimensional and multi-stakeholder approach to risk management. In recognition of these key concepts and assumptions the NCCP calls for actions that enable *sustainable wellbeing*, enhance *social cohesion*, increase *inclusivity*, and foster new *partnerships*. Fiji's climate response will be defined by the principle of *agility* recognising the need to be dynamic, flexible, and responsive to complex and changing threats. Fiji's climate change response will be shaped by the principle of *urgency*, recognising the need for timely and robust actions given the scale of the climate crisis and nature of Fiji's vulnerability to climate impacts. The NCCP seeks to improve *transparency and communication* recognising the need to change and enhance the way data and information is shared. The principle of *integrated learning* underpins the various strategies within the NCCP through the recognition that reflection, capacity building, and strong monitoring and evaluation frameworks are required to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of Fiji's efforts to reduce risk and build national resilience. The NCCP is a *gender responsive* and *human rights-based policy* and provides guidance to ensure actions prevent climate change impacts from exacerbating existing inequalities that exist within society. The NCCP's implementation is reliant on enhanced capacity for *evidence-based decision-making* and its objectives seek to increase the use of best available science, multi-criteria analysis, and information-sharing to help shape effective resilience-building solutions.

A Woven Approach to Resilient Development

The craft of weaving is one of the world's most ancient technologies and is an integral part of our multi-cultural history. It is a method that has allowed us to transform organic materials into important tools and products. Weaving methods have been used to help create basic necessities such as shelter, clothing, baskets, rope, fishing nets, mats, and handicrafts. Beyond the physical applications of weaving, its basic concept, namely that individual strands of a material become exponentially stronger when interconnected in a systematic way, has timeless relevance. This lesson is not only of historical and traditional relevance as its concept continues to traverse the methods that have defined modern technology and engineering. Weaving is both an act of strengthening and transformation.

In the context of building national resilience to climate change, the basic method of weaving helps to represent the need to improve the connections between the many contributing factors that define national resilience. National resilience is a characteristic that is defined by a range of factors that when considered collectively influence the

ability of society to withstand and recover from shocks and changes. Resilience, like a woven material, must be strengthened through the integration of various separate considerations and factors. Resilience to climate change can be increased through the strengthening of the interrelated systems that support and define human wellbeing, ecosystem health, and economic stability. Through the intentional interweaving of environmental, social, and economic priorities there is greater potential to identify common and cross-cutting development priorities that play an inextricable role in defining our ability to withstand shocks and changes.

The woven approach of the NCCP recognises the need to better connect and integrate development priorities in a strategic and cohesive way. The objectives of the NCCP have been shaped by Fiji's *Sustainable Development Goals* and the development priorities set out within *Fiji's National Development Plan*⁵. The NCCP objectives collectively provide a strategy for climate-sensitising Fiji's existing development ambitions and serve to support improved efficiency and complementarity between development and exacerbate existing vulnerabilities an increased focus on delivering shared benefits and minimising trade-offs is required. This is made possible through increased recognition of the interconnectivity between socio-economic and environmental risks and a deepened focus on improving the collaboration required to address common challenges. The woven approach places greater emphasis on weaving together the actions and priorities of Government, the private sector, civil society, development partners, and academia bringing these strands together to strengthen the strategic approach to managing climate risks. Similarly the NCCP provides strategies to improve capacity to combine different types of data, evidence, and information to improve foresight in order to create a more cohesive understanding of potential future risks.

Objectives and Strategies

The policy objectives and strategies of the NCCP are presented in three clusters: foundations (*national risk* governance and global climate action), dimensions (climate change adaptation, climate change mitigation), and pathways (capacity development, sustainable financing, and private sector transition and engagement).

1. Foundations

The NCCP enhances national risk governance arrangements and articulates Fiji's global climate action priorities. The NCCP re-establishes the National Climate Change Coordination Committee and provides guidance for updating its role and functions. The NCCP elevates the oversight required to define the long-term direction of Fiji's climate change response through the formation of a Cabinet Committee on Climate and Disaster Risk. To catalyse and formalise the engagement of the private sector in Fiji's climate change response the NCCP establishes a National Private Sector Advisory Board to increase the scope of consultation, collaboration, and inter-sector alignment between the Government and private sector. To mobilise the cross-government intentions of the NCCP, the policy calls for the establishment of climate change focal points within all line ministries. Through guidance to inform new legislation and revise institutional arrangements, the NCCP establishes greater inter-government accountability for the national response to climate change. The NCCP sets out intention to pass, and quidance to inform, a National Climate Change Act to strengthen the legal mandate for Fiji's climate change response, underpin a range of national, regional and international commitments and obligations cited within national policies and plans, and further align actions to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals. The effectiveness of Fiji's resilient development approach is in part dependent on proactive international engagement and the vital need to progress, drive, and require an ambitious global response to mounting environmental and economic threats. The NCCP recognises that climate stressors and impacts are inherently inter-woven and cannot be addressed without collective, action, commitment, and solidarity and sets out the key objectives that underpin Fiji's international engagements. Fiji will continue to further weave transformative action to protect the ocean into Fiji's domestic and foreign policy exploiting all opportunities to influence international policy.

⁵ The National Development Plan (NDP) calls for resilient and climate-sensitised development and the integration of effective and inclusive national adaptation and risk management activities within the process of development planning.

National Risk Governance

- 1. To institutionalise and enhance accountability for climate risk management through appropriate long-term governance arrangements, planning processes, and evidence-based decision-making.
- 2. To establish a legal framework for Fiji's climate change response.
- 3. To accelerate resilient development through the use of national standards of compliance.
- 4. To improve national capacity for strategic foresight.

Leadership and Global Climate Action

- 1. To limit global average temperature rise to 1.5°C.
- 2. To reduce climate-change related impacts on human well-being and national sovereignty through robust regional and international policy.
- 3. To operationalise the Warsaw International Mechanism for Loss and Damage.
- 4. To drive regional and global action to reduce stressors on the marine environment.

2. Dimensions

The NCCP articulates overarching national climate adaptation and mitigation objectives and strategies. These objectives and strategies demonstrate and reinforce the interconnections and linkages across these dimensions and in relation to terrestrial and marine environmental protection, disaster risk management, and the *Sustainable Development Goals*. The effectiveness of national adaptation measures will be enhanced through greater intergovernmental policy coherence and collaboration. The NCCP's adaptation objectives seek to ensure that Fiji's citizens benefit from initiatives which are locally defined, appropriate, and community driven. Fiji's climate change response will be interlinked with the national disaster risk reduction agenda and specific mechanisms will be progressed to take full advantage of opportunities and activities which reduce climate and disaster risks. Nature-based solutions are vital to Fiji's wellbeing and are central to the NCCP's adaptation and mitigation objectives. Fiji's adaptation, mitigation, and economic development ambitions will be driven through actions to conserve, protect, enhance and strategically manage Fiji's natural environment and resources. The NCCP solidifies Fiji's commitment to achieve net-zero emissions by 2050. For Fiji's economy to transition effectively, dynamic and strong systems for monitoring, evaluating, and reducing emissions are required. The NCCP recognises the intimate linkages between the ocean, climate, and human wellbeing and calls for robust national, regional, and international actions to address ocean degradation.

Climate Change Adaptation and Resilient Development

- 1. To integrate the consideration of climate change projections, articulation of risk reduction responsibilities, and formulation of resilience-building objectives across all sector plans and strategies.
- 2. To increase ecosystem protection, natural resource redundancy, and environmental resilience.
- 3. To secure equal and sustainable access to the produce, products, resources, and services that support human health and wellbeing.
- 4. To implement climate change adaptation solutions which are inclusive, equitable, and locally-driven.
- 5. To integrate climate adaptation and disaster risk management priorities.

Climate Change Mitigation and Resilient Development

- 1. To derive 100% of national electricity production from renewable energy sources by 2030 and achieve net zero annual greenhouse-gas emissions by 2050.
- 2. (Sub-Objective) To decarbonise Fiji's transport sector.
- 3. To prioritise greenhouse-gas mitigation initiatives that increase national resilience and help achieve the Sustainable Development Goals.
- 4. To preserve and enhance Fiji's natural carbon sinks and carbon reservoirs.

3. Pathways

Key to progressing resilient development objectives are cross-cutting priorities that support a range of development outcomes and help to leverage co-benefits. Enhancing knowledge management, education, capacity building, and technology transfer to suit changing needs are central requirements needed to support all development priorities. The NCCP sets out objectives for changing the way information is collected, shared, analyzed, applied, and communicated. The NCCP provides clarity of intention on the need to broaden Fiji's access to innovative, diverse, and sustainable sources of climate finance. The Fijian Government has communicated through the NCCP intention to strategically transform and better integrate the private sector into the delivery of Fiji's climate response through the provision of specific objectives to improve the alignment, and partnership between the public and private sectors. The NCCP provides guidance and objectives for supporting risk-informed private sector transitions.

Capacity Development

- 1. To improve data availability, analytical-capacity, risk communications, and awareness.
- 2. To invest strategically in human and technological capacity-building for climate-resilient development.

Sustainable Financing

- 1. To Increase the use and availability of domestically-derived climate finance.
- 2. To leverage internationally-derived climate-finance for transformative outcomes.
- 3. To improve and amend public financial management systems in response to changing public service delivery requirements.

Private Sector Transition and Engagement

- 1. To enhance public and private sector engagement and alignment.
- 2. To establish private-public partnerships.
- 3. To create a climate-ready workforce and promote social entrepreneurship.



STRUCTURE: NATIONAL CLIMATE CHANGE POLICY 2018–2030





GovernanceLeadership and Global Climate ActionCapacity DevelopmentSustainable FinancingPrivate Sector Engagement and TransitionsSection 3: Objectives and StrategiesAdaptationMitigation	FOUNI	DATIONS		PATHWAYS		
DIMENSIONS Development Financing and Transitions Strategies	Governance		Canacity	Sustainable		
	DIMENSIONS					
	Adaptation	Mitigation				Strutegies



FIGURE 1 Depiction of NCCP document sections

Introduction

'The purpose of Talanoa is to share stories, build empathy and to make wise decisions for the collective good' – UNFCCC Talanoa Dialogue Platform, 2018

The entry into force of the Paris Agreement on November 4th, 2016 and Fiji's ensuing presidency of the 23rd UNFCCC Conference of the Parties (COP23) in 2017 have advanced global political ambition and momentum to address both the drivers and impacts of climate change. The Fijian Presidency of COP23 launched the *Talanoa Dialogue* concept as a means to ensure a constructive, transparent, solutions-oriented, and inclusive approach to global climate action. The *Talanoa Dialogue* has been framed by the following questions:

- Where are we?
- Where do we want to go?
- How do we get there?

The development of this *National Climate Change Policy (NCCP)* has required reflection on these same questions at the national level. The first question, 'where are we?' is addressed though the consideration of current and future climate projections, national risk assessments, policy consultation findings, and current national, regional, and international policy contexts. These considerations have been framed within the accompanying **NCCP Policy Rationale and Context supplement**. The NCCP's *long term vision for 2050*, mid-term vision for 2030, as well as its principles and approaches answer the second question, where do we want to go?, providing detail on both the direction of travel and the desired *destination*. Through its strategic objectives and governance arrangements, the NCCP answers the third question, 'How do we get there?', and acts as the central policy instrument for formalising the issue specific plans, strategies, and mechanisms which will continue to drive Fiji's national response to this question.



Policy Development Process and Consultation

In alignment with the Talanoa approach to dialogue, the NCCP's development has recognised the importance of participation, communication, and partnership. This policy was developed in consultation with numerous stakeholders, both within and external to government, and was informed by a series of formal multi-stakeholder consultations held over a two year period (2017-2019). These included a National Consultation (Suva, 2017), consultations with the Northern Division (Labasa, 2017) and the Western Division (Lautoka, 2017), as well as consultations with a sample of rural communities. The NCCP's development has also drawn upon all consultations held to inform the development of Fiji's National Development Plan (NDP), National Adaptation Plan, and Low Emissions Development Strategy. This national policy is directly linked to the priorities and timeframes set out within Fiji's National Development Plan and has been designed with consideration of the findings of recent national assessments including the Cyclone Winston Post Disaster Needs Assessment and The National Climate Vulnerability Assessment. The NCCP supports the implementation of Fiji's NDC Roadmap and establishes the oversight for the National Adaptation Plan process and Fiji's Low Emissions Development Strategy. The NCCP has been informed by relevant international and regional frameworks which have been referenced throughout the policy to provide further guidance to support national development strategies and targets. The NCCP has been closely aligned with the overarching objectives of the Sustainable Development Goals and provides quidance to accelerate their achievement through an elevated focus on the cross-cutting opportunities to leverage positive social and economic development outcomes while fundamentally reducing risk.



Policy Relationships

The NCCP services the ambition, commitments and priorities of Fiji's National Development Plan and Nationally Determined Contribution to the Paris Agreement. The NCCP legitimises, guides, drives, informs, and establishes the governance for delivering Fiji's climate change adaptation and mitigation priorities through the National Adaptation Plan Process and Fiji's long-term Low Emissions Development Strategy. The coordinating role of the NCCP and its relationships with other **cross-government/ministerial policies** is depicted in the graphic below. The objectives and strategies introduced by this policy have been designed to support existing efforts to improve development effectiveness, social infrastructure, public services, and human and environmental protection and recognises the range of pre-existing government plans designed to support social development objectives and build national resilience.



Relationships between key inter-ministerial policies and plans relevant to NCCP



Guiding Concepts

INTERGENERATIONAL RISK

The Fijian Government recognises that it is the responsibility of the current generation to protect and conserve Fiji's rich biodiversity, environmental assets, and cumulative natural capital for the benefit of future generations. The Fijian Government recognises that climate change poses both an immediate and current threat to national wellbeing as well as to the long-term prosperity of future generations due to the impact of climatic change on Fiji's fragile environments and ecological systems. To reduce the risk to future prosperity, long term objectives, ambitious mitigation targets, revised social policies, and incentives to protect Fiji's biodiversity, reefs, forests, wetlands, water resources, and soil must be embedded within Fiji's development approach. Actions to support intergenerational prosperity and wellbeing are streamlined throughout the NCCP through objectives and strategies designed to:

- 1. Address long-term as well as short and medium-term risks.
- 2. Improve environmental protection standards, methods, and policy and enforce climate-sensitive and environmentally-sustainable development planning and practices.
- 3. Ensure national education systems support long term capacity building and employment transitions¹.
- 4. Progress national decarbonisation to achieve net zero national carbon emissions by 2050.

RESILIENT DEVELOPMENT

Resilience is understood as the ability to cope with shocks and disturbance with minimal disruption and successfully return to a stable state. The introduction of the concept of 'resilience-building' as an objective within development narratives is associated with an increased focus on the strengthening of existing capacity, emphasis on enhancing systems, and the promotion of collaboration between actors and across disciplines. National resilience is understood through the characteristics of a nation's government, society, and environment and is often assessed through the consideration of the following capacities:

- 1. Coping capacity: The capacity to cope with and absorb shocks.
- 2. Adaptive capacity: A society's ability to adapt to stressors and risks.
- 3. *Transformative capacity*: The capacity, willingness, and ability of a nation to transform its systems and processes based on learning and experience. This is partially understood thorough a society's ability to adopt new behaviours.

*Resilient development*² describes the particular balance and focus of Fiji's development approach. This approach recognises that risk management, environmental protection, climate change adaptation and mitigation are all activities which are indistinct *from*, and inextricably linked *to* Fiji's economic development. Resilience-building requires increased acknowledgement that human systems are embedded *within* and dependent *upon* environmental systems. A deepened understanding of this interdependency and its implications is required and advocated throughout this policy.

¹ The NCCP further supports Fijian Governments' continued commitment to building a strong and dynamic education system. As referenced throughout this policy, education plays a key role in building awareness and setting the foundation for important skill sets and expertise that can be reinvested into society. Fiji's education system must deliver the tools required for an intergenerational response to climate change.

In 2016, Pacific Leaders endorsed the Framework for Resilient Development in the Pacific recognised as the first regional framework of its kind to set out voluntary regional guidelines for integrating the interlinked objectives of disaster risk reduction, climate change adaptation, and low carbon development under the concept of resilient development.



SECTION 1

"Resilience is a systems' capacity to cope with disturbances and recover in such a way that they maintain their core function and identity. It also relates to the capacity to learn from and adapt to changing conditions, and when necessary, transform"

Arctic Council, 2013



Preamble

The Constitution of the Republic of Fiji is grounded in a central 'commitment to justice, national sovereignty and security, social and economic wellbeing and safeguarding of the environment⁶'.

In accordance with this commitment the Fijian Government recognises the need for a strong principle-based vision for guiding Fiji's national climate change response. This vision and its principles define this National Climate Change Policy which serves as an anchor for the actions, accountability and responsibility required to address the interlinked challenges of climate change and sustainable development in a balanced and equitable way. To establish these principles, the Fijian Government:

Calls for this policy to be guided by the principle of Sustainable Wellbeing

Recognising the range of detrimental environmental, social, and economic impacts resulting from anthropogenic⁷ climate change,⁸

Recognising that climate action is a constitutional requirement. That, unchecked, the impacts of climate change will undermine national constitutional commitments and national wellbeing,

Recognising that climate-sensitive people-centred development is vital to its ability to fulfil constitutional obligations and reduce constitutional threats to current and future generations,

Reaffirming its commitment to achieving the *Sustainable Development Goals* noting that without relevant action, climate change and disaster risk pose major threats to Fiji's development progress and national wellbeing, noting the priorities and objectives of Fiji's *National Development Plan*;

Calls for this policy to be guided by the principle of Social Cohesion

Recognising the linkage between social cohesion and human resilience, and the potential for climate change to increase the erosion of social and cultural values,

Encouraging actions which promote social responsibility, civic pride, and community;

⁶ Constitution Republic of Fiji (2013)

⁷ Originating or caused by human activity

⁸ Rationale Reference: 'Human influence on the climate system is clear, and recent anthropogenic emissions of greenhouse gases are the highest in history, Recent climate changes have had widespread impact on human and natural systems' (IPCC, Climate Change 2014, Synthesis Report)

Calls for this policy to be guided by the principle of Partnership

Noting that the drivers and impacts of climate change are not confined by national boundaries and require international collective action to reduce,⁹

Noting the importance of continued and enhanced solidarity between Pacific Island countries and the role of Pacific regionalism in driving international climate action,

Noting the vision of the Blue Pacific narrative in guiding collective efforts to advance shared priorities,

Encouraging all countries to collectively contribute to the protection and revitalisation of the world's oceans, forests, wetlands, and areas of ecological value in order to help mitigate the impacts of climate change, ensure long term food security, protect vital ecosystems, and reduce global inequality;

Calls for this policy to be guided by the principle of Urgency

Reaffirming its commitment to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, Kyoto Protocol and the Paris Agreement, recalling the central concepts of common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities in light of national circumstances and the specific needs and special circumstances of developing countries,

Reaffirming the need to continue to increase ambition and transparency in order to limit global average temperature rise to no more than 1.5°C, ¹⁰

Noting with concern the findings of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change's Special Report on 1.5°C¹¹ and recognising the implications of the findings of this report for Fiji and the Pacific Region and the importance of averting, minimising and addressing loss and damage associated with the adverse effects of climate change,¹²

Noting with concern the severity of recent disaster events, the implications of future climate projections, and the disproportionate current and future impact of climate change on vulnerable small island developing states,

Emphasising the concept of urgency, impressing the need to adopt an approach that prioritises accelerated action and embeds *urgency* as a guiding principle for all global climate action,¹³

Recognising the interdependency between human security and environmental health and the need to immediately ensure that human development is not progressed in a way that compromises environmental integrity,

Emphasising the vital role that oceans play in global ecosystem integrity¹⁴, carbon sequestration, global water, nitrogen and oxygen cycles, food security, and international trade recognising the severe damage that human behaviour and climate change is inflicting on marine ecosystems,¹⁵

Recalling *Articles four and five* of the Paris Agreement, The Government of Fiji recognises the immediate need to take action to conserve and enhance sinks and reservoirs of greenhouse gases;

- ⁹ Rational Reference: [Climate Change requires] 'the widest possible cooperation by all countries, and their participation in an effective and appropriate international response, with a view to accelerating the reduction of global greenhouse gas emissions' (Adoption of the Paris Agreement, Proposal by the President)
- ¹⁰ Paris Agreement, Article 2 (a)(b)
- ¹¹ Global Warming of 1.5°C: an IPCC special report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty
- ¹² Paris Agreement, Article 8
- ¹³ Thereby upholding commitments under Article 2 of the Paris Agreement
- ¹⁴ Paris Agreement, Preamble, 'Noting the importance of ensuring the integrity of all ecosystems'
- ¹⁵ Noting Paris Agreement, Article 5, 'Parties should take action to conserve and enhance, as appropriate, sinks and reservoirs of greenhouse gases'

Calls for this policy to be guided by the principle of Inclusivity

Recognising the differentiated impacts of climate change across societies and vulnerable groups, the risk that climate change will exacerbate existing inequalities disproportionately affecting low-income and otherwise disadvantaged groups, and that vulnerability to climate change is also driven by non-climate-related factors,¹⁶

Reaffirming, the Fijian Government's commitment to human rights, freedom of speech, the indivisibility of human rights, the rights of indigenous peoples, the right to health, the rights of persons with disabilities, the rights of vulnerable persons, the rights of women and girls, and actions which address intergenerational needs and considerations,

Recognising that gender equality, inclusivity, responsiveness and balance is key to effectively addressing environmental challenges and climate risks in an equitable and sustainable way and commits to a genderresponsive approach to national development,

Acknowledging the importance of an integrated approach to disaster risk reduction, climate change adaptation, and economy-wide decarbonisation in order to build national resilience and enable development which is climate neutral, compatible, and sensitised,

Reaffirming its commitment to achieving and enhancing Fiji's *Nationally Determined Contribution*¹⁷ noting the importance of technology transfer and the timely accessibility of international climate finance to support this commitment and the need to ensure that adaptation¹⁸ and mitigation¹⁹ commitments are adequately articulated and supported within all future iterations of Fiji's *Nationally Determined Contribution*;

Calls for this policy to be guided by the principle of Agility

Recognising the need to pre-empt, prepare for and react to change, ensuring that actions, investments and methods to address climate change are flexible, dynamic, and responsive to interconnected risks,

Calling for the accountability, analysis, and insight required to prioritise actions, exploit co-benefits, achieve economies of scale, and demonstrate innovative policy approaches to support the potential for transformative behaviour change,

Emphasising the importance of innovative financing mechanisms, market-based instruments, carbon pricing, and private sector engagement in driving resilient development, enabling low carbon transitions, reducing the burden of financial risk on people and governments, and enabling effective climate adaptation and mitigation actions;²⁰

Calls for this policy to be guided by principles of *Transparency and Communication*

Recognising the need to ensure that all stakeholders commit to approaches and systems that are transparent, publicly accountable, and complaint with international standards for best practice,²¹

Emphasising the importance of inter-stakeholder, cross-sectoral, and inter-governmental communication in all efforts to reduce risk, improve awareness, and promote equitable development transitions;

¹⁶ Upholding commitments made under Article 2 of the Paris Agreement

¹⁷ Paris Agreement, Article 3 and 4

¹⁸ Paris Agreement, Article 7

¹⁹ Paris Agreement, Article 6

²⁰ Paris Agreement, Article 9

²¹ Paris Agreement, Article 13

Calls for this policy to be guided by the principle of *Integrated learning*

Emphasising the importance of capacity building, technology transfer, knowledge sharing, and international cooperation as central enablers for Fiji's adaptation and mitigation needs, requirements, and commitments,²²

Recognising the important role of learning, and institutional reform as means to facilitate increased effectiveness, utility, efficiency and economies of scale in the process of addressing climate and disaster risk;²³

And

Recognising that Fiji's inter-governmental response to climate change will be planned and executed through a number of interlinked and complementary plans, processes and strategies the Fijian Government,

Calls into effect the 'Woven Approach' to resilient development, ensuring that all elements of this approach are gender-responsive, human rights-based, and evidence-driven,

Directs Government agencies to produce and operationalise *a National Adaptation Process* and *National Adaptation Plan* for guiding the prioritisation and implementation of the critical adaptation actions required to ensure robust and lasting national resilience to climate change and disaster risks, deliver Fiji's NDC commitments, and ensure the nation's ability to achieve all Sustainable Development Goals by 2030,

Directs Government agencies to produce and operationalise a *Low Emissions Development Strategy* designed to enable the nation to deliver Fiji's NDC commitments, achieve all Sustainable Development Goals by 2030, and set a sustainable pathway to achieving net-zero emissions by 2050;

And

Adopts this policy as a central vehicle to guide the national actions, methods, and objectives required to address and reduce the impacts of climate change on the Republic of Fiji.

The Fijian Government's implementation of the National Climate Change Policy will be made in accordance with Fiji's commitments and obligations under relevant international treaties ratified by the Fijian Government and listed in **Annex 1**.

²² Paris Agreement, Article 11

²³ Paris Agreement, Article 12

Vision 2050

A resilient and prosperous Fiji, in which the wellbeing of current and future generations is supported and protected by a socially inclusive, equitable, environmentally sustainable, net-zero emissions economy.

The Vision 2050 statement is reflective of the following mission, purpose, goals and values:

- MISSION: Resilience and prosperity.
- **PURPOSE**: Long-term wellbeing, the protection of the interests of future generations.
- **GOALS**: Environmental protection and enhancement, net-zero national emissions by 2050, policy coherence and integration, equitable and sustainable development.
- VALUES: Inclusivity, accountability, and equity.



Vision 2030

Fiji has achieved the Sustainable Development Goals and delivered all 5-year objectives set out in the National Development Plan. Climate risk management methods, strategies, and considerations are embedded within all national development plans and approaches. The delineations between the funding, implementation, and responsibilities for climate change risk management, disaster risk reduction, and economic development are increasingly indistinct and co-considered. Revised governance arrangements have increased the national capacity for evidence-based decision-making improving the effectiveness, efficiency, coherence, and prioritisation of development objectives.

Fiji's National Climate Change Act has accelerated the involvement of multiple sectors, sources of expertise, decision-makers, and stakeholders in the delivery of Fiji's enhanced Nationally Determined Commitment to the Paris Agreement. National capacity for multi-criteria assessment and strategic foresight have been widely improved enabling an agile and innovative approach to development challenges. Improved access to data and information ensures that risk information is effectively tailored to support individual and localised awareness. Risk information services have helped to improve social protection systems. Major natural hazard events continue to occur but physical and social adaptation measures prevent these events from becoming disasters. The reduced losses from disaster risk following the past decade of climate adaptation investments in Fiji's rural and maritime provinces and planned relocations have improved the resilience and decreased the exposure of previously vulnerable communities. Agricultural innovations have increased national food security and diversified Fiji's agricultural industry supporting rural development and the protection of rural livelihoods. The establishment of new business registration categories and national incentive schemes have prompted investment into new business models designed to deliver positive social outcomes and support the delivery of public sector objectives. Investment in education and capacity building efforts and the revision of national curriculums has expanded national skill sets and employment opportunities. National employment levels are the highest in 50 years with increasing numbers of Fijians employed by the national and regional development sector. The impacts of climate change have continued to impact upon Fiji's environment, however, environmental protection and enhancement initiatives have slowed development-induced environmental damage. There is a distinct sector focused on supporting national resilience to climate and disaster risks through ecosystem enhancement and carbon reservoir and sink management. These initiatives have created a range of ecosystem enhancement-based employment opportunities. Environmental conservation and enhancement schemes and eco-tourism have leveraged economic benefits and enhanced natural resource protection.

Fiji's energy sector and transport sector have become increasingly less reliant on fossil fuels. National low carbon transition is progressing steadily in keeping with high-ambition scenarios and the nation is on track for net zero emissions by 2050. Changing consumption behaviour and cross-sector responses to national and global environmental and economic change has increased Fiji's economic self-reliance and reduced the exposure of Fiji's economy to global market volatility.

Improved public financial management and resilient investment planning strategies have helped to better integrate international climate finance with national budget allocations, institutional investments, and private sector finance, increasing the resources available for resilient development objectives. Improved frameworks for collaboration expand the breath of stakeholders involved in Fiji's development enhancing national capability to leverage development co-benefits through the strategic blending of priorities, objectives, resources, and responsibilities. Successful private and international investments in low carbon transition, adaptation, technology transfer, and research, have increased Fiji's contribution and role in regional economic transitions increasing efficiencies of scale and driving up potential for transformative investments over the 2030–2050 period. Fiji remains a hub for Pacific regional development initiatives and organisations. Economic diversification has improved national wellbeing, supported improved inclusiveness and equality in society, and expanded opportunities and prospects for Fiji's youth. Resilience-building has become 'business as usual'.

Fiji and Pacific Nations remain at the forefront of global climate change governance processes and are playing a central role in maintaining the ambition required to reduce global emissions and improve environmental governance. Pacific nations have launched regional-scale actions and policies to protect oceans and maritime zones from exploitation and degradation. Global emissions have been dropping since plateauing in 2020 however further progress is required to meet global 2050 targets.

Overarching Policy Commitments

The Fijian Government is committed to:

- 1. Minimising the impacts of climate change on Fiji's people, environment and economy through capacity development, the transfer of appropriate and relevant technologies, strategic pre-emptive risk management, and evidence-based adaptation actions.
- 2. Securing robust and ambitious global climate action through international political engagement and interregional collaboration.
- 3. Minimising national contributions to the drivers of climate change through nation-wide emissions reductions and the achievement of net zero annual national emissions by 2050.
- 4. Enhancing the governance, systems, processes, efficiency, and effectiveness of Fiji's national climate change response through fit-for-purpose institutional arrangements and increased multi-stakeholder collaboration.
- 5. Securing adequate financing from international finance sources to accelerate the delivery of national climate change adaptation and mitigation objectives through international engagement.
- 6. Increasing national access to sustainable finance through an enabling environment for private sector investment.



Policy Mandate and Purpose

The purpose of the National Climate Change Policy is to provide the high-level guidance, vision, principles, institutional architecture, and objectives required to establish and support a long-term climate-resilient development pathway²⁴ for Fiji.

- 1. The NCCP defines approaches intended to ensure that climate change does not exacerbate existing vulnerability, erode social cohesion, undermine human rights, or deepen gender inequality.
- 2. The NCCP sets out the institutional arrangements and governance structures for coordinating Fiji's climate change response. The NCCP is designed to enhance accountability and establish the oversight required to deliver inclusive and equitable climate change actions in keeping with the requirements of the *National Constitution*.
- 3. The NCCP provides the basis, rationale, and guidance for developing relevant legislation in the form of a *National Climate Change Act* as a means to progress Fiji's climate change response and embed Fiji's *nationally determined contribution* to the *Paris Agreement* within national law.
- 4. The NCCP articulates Fiji's international leadership objectives and requirements for progressing urgent international action.
- 5. The NCCP establishes the overarching objectives and strategies required to reduce the impacts of climate change on Fiji's people, environment, economy, and development ambitions.
- 6. The NCCP enhances emphasis on national, regional, and global protection of the marine environment²⁵ through targeted objectives.
- 7. The NCCP provides a policy anchor for Fiji's commitments under the *Paris Agreement* and establishes responsibilities and systems for national reporting to the UNFCCC. The NCCP calls into effect and legitimises a whole-of-government commitment to the implementation of the *National Adaptation Plan Process* and *Low Emissions Development Strategy* as the central high-level vehicles for delivering *Fiji's Nationally Determined Contribution* under the Paris agreement.
- 8. The NCCP supports the high-level goals of the National Development Plan and the achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals by 2030 through complementary guidance and objectives intended to accelerate and enhance the delivery of resilient development outcomes. The NCCP provides strategies for increasing national capacity to manage development decisions, articulates modalities for improving cross-sectorial engagement and linkages between public and private sectors, and provides solutions intended to increase sustainable financing options.
- 9. The NCCP provides a framework to guide the systems of evaluation and reporting required to track national resilience-building and progress against climate risk management objectives.

²⁴ A trajectory that strengthens sustainable development at multiple scales and efforts to eradicate poverty through equitable societal systems transitions and transformation while reducing the threat of climate change through ambitious mitigation, adaptation and climate resilience (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2018)

²⁵ The Fijian Government is committed to progressing further collective action to protect the Paris Agreement's concept of 'ecosystem integrity' and will ensure that appropriate weight is given to environmental preservation, redundancy, and diversity when evaluating economic decisions





Guiding Principles

Sustainable Wellbeing

In the pursuit of the policy vision and in all efforts to improve the enabling environment for delivering the NCCP objectives, the Fijian Government is committed to actions that help achieve a sustainable state of wellbeing for all Fijians²⁶. The ability to achieve and *sustain* national wellbeing is both the rationale *for* and objective *of* Fiji's climate change response. Progress against the objectives of this policy will be evaluated through the quantitative and qualitative analysis of impact on public wellbeing in keeping with the core mandate of Government established under Fiji's *National Constitution* and the priorities of *Fiji's National Development Plan*.

Social Cohesion

Communities that demonstrate collaborative traits are often better able to withstand shocks, overcome disruptions, and manage change. The NCCP promotes efforts to maintain and improve 'social cohesion^{27,i}. The NCCP intends to enhance social cohesion by producing widely shared outcomes which are collectively designed and implemented. Cultural sensitivity and emphasis on shared values is key to retaining and improving social cohesion. The erosion of traditional practices and increasing urbanisation has detrimental implications for some of the values and practices that underpin the support systems that define strong communities. At the same time, traditional values must also adapt to new social normsⁱⁱ.

Inclusivity

The principle of inclusivity recognises the importance of ensuring that Fiji's actions to address the challenges of climate change result in positive social outcomes for all societal groups irrespective of gender, disability, sexuality, ethnicity, religion, political affiliation, age, and economic circumstance. An inclusive approach will be used to ensure that policy design, activities and investments take into account the differing needs and vulnerabilities of all social groups while also accounting for the differing challenges faced by those living in urban, rural, and outer island areas of the country. The principle of inclusivity within the policy context of the NCCP provides a direct linkage to the objectives of the Sustainable Development Goals, the human rights and gender-based approaches of this policy, and the NDP's concept of Inclusive Socio-economic Development^{28,29}.

²⁶ 'The benefits of prosperity will be spread as widely as possible to improve the social well-being of all Fijians' (National Development Plan, 2017)

²⁷ Social cohesion is defined here as the willingness of members of a group to cooperate and support each other's wellbeing.

²⁸ 'Inclusivity will be at the center of growth and development (National Development Plan, 2017)

²⁹ Noting NAP's promotion of outcomes that prioritise benefits for low income and disadvantaged groups and the call for the NAP process to be an inclusive and multi-stakeholder' (Fiji National Adaptation Plan Framework, 2017

Transparency and Communication

The Fijian Government is committed to transparency and ensuring that all stakeholders can access the information required to be informed, empowered, and able to avoid risk. Transparency in reporting, data management, and monitoring will be required to meet Fiji's commitments to international frameworks and agreements³⁰. Increased communication and information sharing between stakeholders, communities, ministries, civil society, and international partners is required to inform decision-making and support the management of complex risks and trade-offs. Improving the quality and accessibility of information products and the establishment of robust communication networks are both specific *objectives* and guiding *principles* of the NCCP.³¹

Partnership

In keeping with the goal of SDG17 '*Partnerships for the Goals*' Fiji is committed to enhancing the partnership, coordination, collaboration, and consultation between the Fijian Government, and a diverse range of stakeholders inclusive of the private sector³², non-government actors, research institutions, and civil society to ensure a holistic approach to resilient development can be sustained. The NCCP recognises that strong national and international partnerships are required to mitigate global climate change impacts and reduce greenhouse-gas emissions. Furthermore, partnership is key to addressing and recognising Fiji's requirements *for* development assistance, international climate finance, and public-private partnerships.

Integrated Learning

The principle of 'integrated learning'³³ reflects the need to use robust monitoring, evaluation, and reporting systems to ensure that Fiji continues to benefit from learning outcomesⁱⁱⁱ. Increased information sharing and efforts to capture lessons-learned will help to improve risk reduction potential, implementation effectiveness, and resource efficiency while also reducing the potential for ineffective strategies to be replicated. This principle calls for systems of knowledge management which help to link traditionally separate sectors and actors, support national capacity building objectives, promote innovation, broaden participation, and support positive economic outcomes.^{iv}

Agility

The principle of Agility within the context of the NCCP has two dimensions. Firstly, agility is understood as the ability to move quickly, efficiently, and easily. Secondly, agility is conceived as the ability to have sufficient flexibility to adjust and adapt approaches efficiently in light of new information. The principle of *agility* reflects the need for institutional arrangements that are nimble and effective in order to ensure Fiji's responses to climate change can be executed in a timely fashion, recognising that in many cases delay to action can exacerbate risk. The NCCP supports actions that improve the ability of all stakeholders to receive and react to information in ways that increase preparedness and resilience.

³⁰ In alignment with Paris Agreement, Article 13(1.) 'In order to build mutual trust and confidence and to promote effective implementation, an enhanced transparency framework for action and support, with built-in flexibility which considers Parties' different capacities and build upon collective experience is hereby established.'

³¹ These considerations are cited as key enablers for related plans such as Fiji's NAP framework which calls for the *'reinvigoration of the lines of communication between government ministries and departments'*.

³² Rationale: The NDP 2017 sets out a range of areas in which public private partnerships will be utilised to enhance transformative development

³³ This principle is closely aligned with the NAP Framework's call to enhance institutional learning and the commitments made under Article 10 and 11 of the Paris Agreement.

Urgency

This principle responds to the findings of the *IPCC's Special Report on 1.5*°*C (SR15)* which has identified a severely limited timeframe in which to prevent severe global climate change impacts from occurring³⁴. Without urgent action to mitigate the impacts of climate change there will be catastrophic implications for small island developing states. Reducing climate, disaster, and development-related risks in Fiji is reliant on immediate national and international action to dramatically reduce greenhouse gas emissions, accelerated processes for accessing additional international finance to support risk reduction measures, and robust national prioritisation processes to ensure that the most urgent climate and disaster risk reduction objectives can be progressed and delivered as soon as possible.



³⁴ Specifically, a) the need for urgency in addressing climate change including through accelerated actions by 2020 and b) the urgent need to address the significant gap between the aggregate effect of Parties' mitigation pledges in terms of global annual emissions
Policy Pillars

The following concepts are the central pillars of this policy and will be considered alongside the policy principles when shaping all actions taken to deliver the NCCP's strategic objectives .

1. Human Rights-Based

In keeping with the principle of 'inclusivity', all activities under the NCCP will be guided by international human rights, best practice, and relevant guiding frameworks. This policy recognises the unique vulnerabilities and challenges faced by all societal groups and requires all interventions made under this policy to be socially progressive and equitably distributed. The NCCP will ensure that inequalities that may exist are not deepened as a result of the impacts of climate change. The NCCP defines vulnerable groups as any grouping that is at higher risk of experiencing discriminatory practices and physical or economic hardship as a result of gender, age, physical ability, sexuality, race, religion, beliefs, nationality, or ethnicity. In order to operationalise a human rights-based approach within Fiji's climate change response and support of the objectives of the NDP and SDGs, the Fijian Government requires NCCP related plans, strategies, and policies to ensure that:

- 1. Policy interventions recognise that the most vulnerable in society are at risk of being disproportionately affected by climate change and address this fact with measurable initiatives and investments.
- 2. The design of climate change related interventions capture the needs of all social groups utilising participatory approaches to ensure that individuals and vulnerable groups are able to exercise their freedom of speech, civil and political rights through their ability to inform relevant decision-making processes.
- 3. Policy actions include responses and interventions that are specifically targeted, designed, and implemented to address the needs of vulnerable groups.
- 4. Relevant information is publicly accessible, and reporting is transparent and accurate in its content, messaging, and documentation of results.
- 5. The indivisibility and interdependency between civil, political, economic, social, and cultural rights are reflected and taken into account when programming Fiji's climate response.
- 6. The underlying drivers of vulnerability and the multi-dimensional nature of inequalities are taken into account and addressed in the design, delivery, and evaluation of actions taken under the guidance of the NCCP while factoring in the additional burdens and dynamics of climate-related variables and risks.
- 7. Society-wide social protection systems can be continually improved and advanced to reduce baseline risks, minimise gaps in resilience, improve the self-reliance of citizens, and enhance social cohesion³⁵.
- 8. Policy interventions are guided by the Pacific Framework for the Rights of Persons with Disabilities and comply with relevant UN Conventions on human rights including the convention on the 'Rights of the Child', 'Rights of Older Persons', and 'Rights of Persons with Disability'.

³⁵ Various elements of this policy have been designed in accordance and review of existing policies responsible for the ongoing development of social safety nets and the support of human rights. The NCCP assumes that the following types of social protection will continue to be advanced in Fiji over the 2018–2030 time horizon: affordable housing programs, improved access to basic services, continued implementation of standardised employment laws and benefits, improved insurance options for individuals, increased access to pensions, and the improved service delivery to outer islands.

2. Gender-Responsive

"Women are disproportionately affected by climate change impacts such as droughts, floods and other extreme weather events. They also have a critical role in combating climate change but need to be better represented at all levels in the decision-making process. Empowering women will be a significant factor in meeting the climate challenge."

UNFCCC Former Executive Secretary Christiana Figueres, 2014

Climate change has significant potential to exacerbate gender inequalities and reinforce limitations on women's rights enhancing inequality within society. The Fijian Government is committed to empowering women and recognises that women are powerful actors of change and that their voice and leadership will be an essential part of Fiji's climate change response. *Fiji's National Gender Policy*³⁶ calls for a gender-responsive approach to all development activities. The principle of gender-responsiveness within the policy context of the NCCP is a specific call to ensure that all approaches and methods for adaptation and mitigation are guided by the consideration of gender issues, support improved gender-balance in both the decision-making processes and related implementation arrangements, promote gender-equitable benefits, and achieve outcomes which ensure that gender is a key consideration when programming finance and capacity-building. The following *requirements* ³⁷ must define the articulation and design of all aspects of Fiji national response to climate change:

- 1. Women as agents of change: Improve and enhance the incorporation of women's knowledge, skills, participation and leadership into planning processes at the local and national level. Recognise the different types of knowledge and skills that women and men have and how these skills can complement actions to improve livelihoods. Create opportunities to maximise both women's and men's contributions to environmental sustainability.
- 2. **Social adaptation is required:** Address structural inequalities directly, helping to ensure that adaptation reduces and improves outcomes for the economically and socially marginalised, recognising that the rights of women have a direct impact on the welfare of children, the elderly, and disabled. Address governance issues to help ensure that national implementation of adaptation and mitigation actions can be effective, efficient, and equitable.
- 3. Ensure benefits are progressive and effectively realised: Ensure that Fiji's response to climate change does not include actions that reinforce the elements of traditionally and socially constructed roles for women and girls which contribute to gaps and inequalities in terms of access to education, basic knowledge, information, basic services, transportation, and rights.
- 4. **Understand the influence of climate change on gender gaps:** Ensure that gender gaps are understood across Government ministries and amongst stakeholders. Interventions must demonstrate understanding of the disproportionate consequences of disasters, climate change impacts, food, water, and nutritional security issues, and existing energy access disparities, on women and girls.
- 5. Plan for solutions that reduce inequality: Planning, investment, and activities should reflect inclusive consultations and efforts that engage and incorporate women's agency into solutions to ensure equitable, effective and sustainable outcomes. Plans should effectively demonstrate solutions which help to progress and cross-cut the structural reforms required, including but not limited to: legal changes, long term economic

³⁶ Fiji's National Gender Policy highlights the inextricable links between gender equality and sustainable development and promotes enhanced efforts to mainstream gender equality and balance into all aspects of national life. This policy creates a national commitment to women's empowerment and recognises that gender equality is a crucial enabler for achieving national development aspirations.

³⁷ The recommended activities set out within the priority areas of the *Gender Action Plan (GAP)* (created under the UNFCCC *Lima Work Programme on Gender*) have been used to guide NCCP's gender-responsive approach

empowerment, enhanced access to education, information, technology and capacity building³⁸. The NAP process will help to coordinate gender-responsive stakeholder consultations and analysis to support the development of gender-responsive resource mobilisation and actions.

- 6. Use gender-sensitive indicators: To ensure that Fiji's climate change response and resilient development pathway is gender balanced and can support Fiji's needs in terms of gender equality, gender-sensitive indicators should be used when evaluating solutions and results.
- 7. Natural resource management is not gender-neutral: The specific role that women play in natural resource management means that women have a unique relationship with, and access to specific aspects of the natural environment. These unique interactions can be used to enhance Fiji's climate change response and help to produce unique benefits. The implementation of the NCCP and associated plans linked to climate change, biodiversity protection, and land-use must reflect the specific role women play in managing water sources and utilising resources from forests, fisheries, and arable land. This will ensure alignment with the *Convention on Biodiversity's Declaration's* call to integrate greater knowledge, innovation, practice, and participation from women in reference to natural resource management. Women's traditional knowledge will be utilised to improve conservation effectiveness in keeping with the objectives of the *Nagoya Protocol*, the *Aichi Biodiversity Targets*, and SDGs.

3. Evidence-Based

To manage complexity and achieve sustainable wellbeing, increased capacity to pre-empt risk and identify opportunities to fundamentally reduce risk is required. Improving foresight and access to strategic and innovative forward-looking planning processes is key for managing widespread change and reducing disruption. Evidencebased decision-making (EBDM) is the practice of using robust, diverse, scientifically-credible evidence and data, inclusive of socio-economic considerations and trends, to design policy, investments, and implementation methods. Assessing increasingly complex interactions between global, regional, national, and localised trends and risks is a challenge. Designing interventions that effectively anticipate future risks is a process that is increasingly dependent on robust data analysis, modelling, and scenario-building. A strong system and culture to promote capability for strategic foresight, enhance the use of appropriate cost-benefit analysis, and ultimately increase a culture of EBDM will enable Fiji to make strategic and cost-effective decisions that maximise positive social outcomes. To improve the enabling environment for EBDM arrangements, the effective, relevant, and timely capture and exchange of data and information between sectors, government divisions, and sub-national stakeholders is required as well as investments to improve data collection, quality, technology, and analytical capacity. Strengthening EBDM in Fiji will directly support objectives under Article 7 of the Paris Agreement³⁹. To ensure that development is climate-resilient, the NCCP calls for the use of the best available climate science and the increased use of socio-economic analysis and probability-based scenarios to help inform national decisionmaking and priority setting. The NCCP recognises the need to ensure that current and updated climate projections are readily available and updated in order to help inform policy, planning, and investments.

³⁸ Actions should also promote opportunities to reduce marginalised political representation of women at all levels of national leadership.

³⁹ Paris Agreement, Article 7, (C) Strengthening scientific knowledge on climate... in a manner that informs climate services and supports decision-making, (E) Improving the effectiveness and durability of adaptation actions.



SECTION 2 APPROACH

they

SIL



A Woven Approach to Resilient Development

The Fijian Government recognises that economic development, climate change adaptation and mitigation, disaster risk reduction, and environmental protection objectives are deeply inter-woven and that without increased effort to address these linkages trade-offs will become increasingly difficult to manage. To deliver Fiji's development objectives and reduce fragmentation deepened collaboration between government ministries and sectors is required. The Fijian Government is committed to an inter-governmental approach to resilient development" which is shaped by the understanding that *national resilience* can only be improved if the relationship and dependencies between social dynamics, environmental hazards, economic risks, development impacts, climate changes, and sectors are addressed and considered in a holistic way. To do so requires a focus on increasing the ability to leverage co-benefits and synergies through development actions and initiatives. The capacity to do so requires the reform of systems, increased connectivity and collaboration between a wide range of stakeholders, improved capability for strategic foresight and evidence-based decision-making, and an increased emphasis on common objectives and interests.

Weaving is a basic, inter-cultural, and international *technology* derived from the fundamental concept that *individual strands of a material become exponentially stronger when interconnected in a systematic way.* The NCCPs *Woven approach* is focused on *strengthening through connectivity* and the need to identify specific actions and objectives which enable, progress, and cross-cut a range of priorities. By focusing on common requirements and actions which potentially satisfy multiple priority areas, the effectiveness of policy implementation and the efficiency and utility derived from activities and resources is expected to be improved. This approach requires a deepened focus on the core drivers of national wellbeing⁴⁰ and is representative of a high-level commitment to promote multi-stakeholder collaboration. The NCCP addresses the need for greater *vertical and horizontal integration*⁴¹ – which, in physical terms, is the basis of what makes a woven product stronger.

Fiji's NCCP objectives are aligned with a strategic approach to achieving the *Sustainable Development Goals*⁴². The *Sustainable Development Goals* themselves are closely interwoven and inter-dependant⁴³. In Fiji's case, vulnerability to climate change has potential to derail and undermine progress against each of the SDGs⁴⁴. In this way, the NCCP approaches the SDGs through the lens of SDG13 and the woven approach helps to provide insight into the relationships between the SDGs recognising that global and national ambition and commitment to climate action is a key holistic enabler to achieving the SDGs. The NCCP recognises that gender equality (SDG5), strong institutions (SDG16), partnerships (SDG17), as well as sustainable physical infrastructure and innovation (SDG9) are major prerequisites for improving basic services (SDG1, 2, 4, 6,7) and protecting ecosystem integrity (SDG14, 15). Actions to deliver against these goals will improve long-term well-being, economic resilience, and sustainability (SDG3, 8, 11, 12) which will ultimately enable the reduction of societal inequality (SDG10).

A *whole-of-economy* approach is required to be strategic and coordinate the tools and resources needed to achieve transformative results. In order to weave a mat or fabric, the weaver must have a vision for the end product and understand how each piece contributes to the whole. The vision of the NCCP will be realised through development actions that individually and collectively contribute to protecting and improving national wellbeing.

⁴⁰ As opposed to the delineation between sectors and the resulting separation of priorities and agendas

⁴¹ See Fiji's National Adaptation Plan and 'vertical and horizontal integration' objectives

⁴² Noting the IPCC SR1.5 and the articulation of the 'indicative linkages between mitigation options and sustainable development using SDGs'.

⁴³ However, noting that the relationships and causal chains between the different SDGs vary greatly between country contexts.

⁴⁴ The IPCC SR15 provides guidance on some of the direct synergies and trade-off's that climate change will have on the ability of countries to deliver against each of the SDGs



FIGURE 2 Sustainable development through the lens of SDG13. Graphic adapted from 2030 Sustainable Development Goals Icons (UN, 2015)

The NCCP's woven approach recognises:

- 1. The inextricably woven relationship between social and ecological systems and that human wellbeing and prosperity is dependent on environmental integrity and health.
- 2. The unique and indivisible role of oceans in sustaining global environmental integrity.
- 3. That climate and disaster impacts cascade across sectors and that therefore, responses must focus on the nexuses and relationships between sectors in order to establish credible solutions.
- 4. That the sectoral divisions between issues, portfolios, and sectors become less relevant and applicable during times of fundamental change.
- 5. That the common ground for all development policy must be the promotion of sustainable human wellbeing and that both wellbeing and resilience are characteristics and outcomes which are defined and determined by a number of interrelated factors.
- 6. That to respond to the inter-woven risks that will result from changes to the climate, responses must be similarly inter-woven to be effective. Addressing multi-sector threats requires a multi-sector and multi-stakeholder approach.
- 7. That social cohesion, understood as the willingness of citizens to be supportive and collaborative of each other during challenging circumstances, is key to ensuring that societies and systems can be resilient, adaptable, and durable to change.
- 8. That international climate actions to reduce greenhouse gas emissions will only achieve transformative results if these actions are *interwoven* in a consistent, systematic, and adequately ambitious manner across sectors and nations.

The NCCP's woven approach is a response to the following requirements:

- 1. To weave together rather than separate elements of the risk management and development agenda.
- 2. To integrate the actions and interests of all stakeholders, sectors, and groups in a united approach to resilient development.
- 3. To ensure that all development actions adequately address the impacts, linkages, and dependencies between human wellbeing, ecosystem services, biodiversity, oceanic systems, and the global climate.

The NCCP's woven approach advocates:

- 1. Efforts to capitalise and focus on exploiting *co-benefits and commonalities* between climate change adaptation, disaster risk, and low carbon development agendas in order to exploit cross-cutting benefits, reduce duplication and improve resource efficiency. As with a woven material, cross-cuts and overlaps, are what create strength and should be perceived as welcome intersections rather than sources of conflict.
- 2. The concept of triple helix innovation suggests that the economic development of a country depends not only on the presence of a strong government, universities and industries but more so on how these elements mutually interact to achieve strategic objectives⁴⁵. This concept speaks to the opportunity to increase national competitiveness and development through coordinatated collaboration between government, academia, and the private sector. When policy, science, and market-based innovation are combined there is increased potential to accelerate progressive and transformative outcomes for society.
- The established concept of the *triple dividend of resilience* which is a reference to the benefit of designing investments that help to fundamentally (1) avoid disaster and climate change-related losses but that also (2) unlock economic potential and (3) help generate development co-benefits⁴⁶.
- 4. The gender responsive and human rights-based pillars of the NCCP. Social inclusion objectives and the protection of human rights must be carefully interwoven throughout Fiji's climate change response to ensure that outcomes are equitable and improve social cohesion and integration.
- 5. The *evidence-based* pillar of the NCCP as the ambitions of this approach are dependent on improving access to information and data. Evidence and information is increasingly required to ensure all actors can understand the relationships, interactions, trade-offs, and overlapping priorities that exist between sectors, risks, and opportunities.

⁴⁵ (Kimatu, 2016)

⁴⁶ (Tanner & Griffith-Jones, 2016)



SECTION 3 OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES



44 REPUBLIC OF FIJI • NATIONAL CLIMATE CHANGE POLICY

Policy Objectives and Strategies

The objectives in the following sections prioritise actions designed to protect and enhance national wellbeing in keeping with Fiji's NDP priorities and the SDGs. The objectives and strategies of the NCCP have implications that will require support from all divisions of Fiji's central government, sub-national government and private sector as well as from communities, civil society, and individuals. These objectives have been divided into three objective categories: foundations, risk dimensions, and strategic pathways.

The foundations of this policy are objectives related to national governance, institutional arrangements, and global priorities. Appropriate governance arrangements, capacity to pre-empt risks, and international leadership to reduce the core drivers of global climate change are prerequisites for ensuring that domestic actions will not be undermined. These objectives are likened to the interwoven edges and ties of a woven product which prevent it from unravelling⁴⁷.

Fiji's risk management priorities and actions required to reduce climate and disaster risks are articulated through the dimensions of climate change adaptation and mitigation. These 'dimensions' are likened to the structural foundation of a woven product⁴⁸ as they are the core pillars of resilient-development.

The strategic pathway objectives are concerned with common priorities and enablers for sustainable and resilient development (capacity development, sustainable finance, and private sector engagement, markets) and are likened to the cross-cutting strands that strengthen woven products⁴⁹ due to their ability to fundamentally enhance the effectiveness of national risk reduction activities.

These foundations, dimensions, and pathways provide guidance to improve natural synergies between the objectives of Fiji's related cross-government plans, policies, and strategies which address climate change challenges such as the NDP, NDC, NAP, NDRRP, and LEDS, and provide guidance to help reduce duplication of effort, enhance co-benefits, and help manage 'trade-offs'.



STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

⁴⁷ Known in relation to a woven product as the '*selvedge*'

⁴⁸ Known in relation to a woven product as the 'weft'

⁴⁹ Known in relation to a woven product as the 'warp'

1. National Risk Governance

- 1. Enhance collaboration and inter-government coordination.
- 2. Increase accountability and capacity to track and deliver the NCCP.
- 3. Develop governance arrangements that reflect the NCCP's eight core principles.
- 4. Embed mechanisms that increase the application and proficiency of evidence-based decision-making.
- 5. Support the aspirations of a *Woven approach to Resilient Development* recognising the various interactions and co-benefits involved with increased alignment and connectivity between policies, plans, sectors, and ministries.
- 6. Promote policy innovations that help to cross-cut development objectives through the increased involvement and engagement of the private sector.
- 7. Reflect the principle of *inclusivity* through governance arrangements that increase public consultation through a multi-sectorial participatory approach.

NCCP objectives will be delivered through a variety of sector specific policies, strategies and plans⁵⁰. Adjustments to existing oversight bodies and the addition of new bodies required to progress coordination and governance functions in service of the NCCP are presented through the objectives in this section⁵¹.

The Fijian Government endorsed the 2012 NCCP's call for the 'exploration of appropriate legislation options to strengthen the legal mandate for driving national activities relevant to the management of climate change'. Following the ratification of the Paris Agreement and the policy implications involved, there is refreshed impetus and rationale to advance a national legal framework to support Fiji's national approach to climate risk management and resilient development. The NCCP sets out general guidance as to the need for and value of a National Climate Change Act and provides overarching recommendations for defining the role of legislation in relation to the delivery of the NCCP. Climate change legislation is an important tool for establishing a legal framework for planning, implementing, and monitoring national climate change responses. Climate change legislation will be vital for institutionalising and systematising the multi-stakeholder coordination required to meet national obligations and strengthen government oversight of key risks and priorities. Furthermore, climate change legislation has the potential to further unite national constitutional commitments. Climate change legislation has the potential to further unite national stakeholders and inspire more cohesive collaboration between stakeholders. Appropriate legislation will also help foster greater confidence amongst international and domestic investors helping to improve the enabling environment for integrated public-private financing, investments, and decision-making.

Fiji's response to climate change will also be further enabled through the use of national standards of compliance designed to improve consistency of practice through enforceable guidelines intended to reduce risks to people and the environment. Climate change related legislation will help to improve the scope, enforcement, and value-added potential of the application of standards as a way to adjust business as usual, instigate behaviour change, and ultimately help to automate the progression of key priorities. Standards of compliance should feature as a permanent agenda point for National Climate Change Coordination Committee (NCCCC) meetings.

⁵⁰ The NCCP can be viewed as the policy '*hub*' for Fiji's national climate change response while all related policies for individual sectors and interests can be understood as the '*spokes*'.

⁵¹ This section references NCCP specific governance arrangements rather than implementing entities, as all ministries, agencies, nonstate and private sector actors, and individuals will be responsible for the implementation of the NCCP.

OBJECTIVE 1.1 To institutionalise and enhance accountability for climate risk management through appropriate long-term governance arrangements, planning processes, and evidence-based decision-making

OUTCOMES

National policy coherence, cross government consultation, and government oversight is improved in accordance with the objectives and intentions of the NCCP enhancing the capability of government to deliver programs which affect and enhance national resilience.

- 1. The terms of reference of the National Climate Change Coordination Committee are revised to reflect the guidance of the NCCP and update the committee's functionality in alignment with new national and global frameworks and policies.
- 2. A cabinet committee on climate and disaster risk is formed to provide high level oversight of the inter-related issues present across government portfolios. This committee serves as a platform to evaluate the macro-economic implications of climate change and the national security dimensions of climate risks.
- 3. National civil service human resource needs, capability requirements and role descriptions are reviewed and revised to reflect changing human resource needs, service delivery expectations, and skill set requirements.
- 4. Contract-based key performance indicators for Permanent Secretaries and relevant senior staff are used to formally link performance evaluation with key policy objectives. Civil service enrichment opportunities and trainings relevant to NCCP focus areas are developed.
- 5. A network of climate change focal points is established with focal points embedded within all sectors and ministries enhancing the coordination and collaboration between portfolios.
- 6. A private sector advisory board is established providing a formal platform to broker public-private partnerships and improve inter-sector knowledge exchange.
- 7. Donor engagement and coordination arrangements are reviewed in the interest of enhancing potential for efficiency, complementarity, and the leveraging of co-benefits in keeping with the 'woven approach' of this policy.
- 8. Local and sub-national government representatives help design and coordinate local resilience building initiatives and are supported and resourced to ensure a decentralised approach to national risk management can be sustained.



OBJECTIVE 1.2 To establish a legal framework for Fiji's climate change response in the form of a National Climate Change Act

OUTCOMES

The Fijian Government develops legislation in the form of a National Climate Change Act strengthening the legal mandate for Fiji's climate change response. The Act underpins a range of national, regional and international commitments and obligations cited within national policies and plans, and further aligns national actions required to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals. Legislation comes into effect during the first implementation period of the Paris Agreement strengthening the governance mechanisms set out by the NCCP, supporting the delivery of the NCCP objectives, and establishing national mechanisms for reviewing and evaluating the delivery of Fiji's Nationally Determined Contribution. Legislation establishes Fiji's National Adaptation Plan and Fiji's Low Emissions Development Strategy as key instruments for guiding and prioritising national adaptation and mitigation actions.

STRATEGIES

Legislating Fiji's commitment to the Paris Agreement in national law will create a strong legal foundation for producing economic incentives and enforcement mechanisms needed to help better align all stakeholder efforts to reduce nation-wide risk and enhance the resources available for transformative adaptation and GHG mitigation.

The following overarching goals, rationale, and recommendations will help to define the strategy taken to define the legal framework for Fiji's climate change response.

GOAL 1 Governance Architecture for Fiji's Climate Change Response is established under law

Creating a legal basis for Fiji's climate response will solidify the NCCP's cross-cutting directives and improve access to the authority and accountability needed to drive holistic and consistent results. Legislation will be used to further establish the mechanisms and oversight required to ensure Ministries support, contribute to, and implement the National Adaptation Plan and action the findings and options provided by the Low Emissions Development Strategy. Legislation will enable the Fijian Government to:

- 1. Establish clear coordination and oversight mechanisms for progressing inter-government and crosssectoral actions.
- 2. Establish ministerial oversight of NCCP implementation while formalising the terms of reference for a support network of climate change focal points across government.
- 3. Anchor the mandate of the NCCCC in legal terms and require formal interactions between the NCCCC, National Security Committee, and National Environment Committee.
- 4. Update and reaffirm the terms of reference of the NCCCC, defining membership, functionality, and responsibilities.
- 5. Establish a cabinet committee to service the vision of the NCCP to enhance the delivery effectiveness of the NCCP (see Cabinet Committee on Climate and Disaster Risk).
- 6. Improve transparency required to review government performance.
- 7. Anchor the NCCP's call to revise environmental policies and environmental impact assessment criteria to improve alignment with relevant climate and disaster risk management objectives.
- 8. Establish a robust national process for producing integrated socio-economic and climate change-related national risk scenarios to support long-term policy and planning.
- 9. Establish the accountability and legal foundation for progressing the NCCP's Human Rights-Based and Gender-Responsive policy requirements.

- 10. Support the 'evidence-based' objectives of the NCCP by establishing a national mechanism for collecting, disseminating, and storing relevant data and information to support the cross-sectoral information sharing.
- 11. Support the 'evidence-based' objective of the NCCP by establishing the monitoring, evaluation and reporting systems required to support the delivery of Fiji's adaptation and mitigation commitments.
- 12. Support the 'woven approach' to resilient development through legal requirements to integrate risk evaluation and mitigation in national standards, codes, planning processes, and reporting procedures.
- 13. Support the 'woven approach' by further defining the legal parameters for mainstreaming risk management across Fiji's national development processes.
- 14. Provide a clear policy signal and reassurance for the private sector to help guide long-term investment and provide incentives to improve private sector engagement, partnership, and transition.

GOAL 2 Legislation enhances sustainable financing for national climate risk management

Legislation will create a legal basis for the NCCP's objectives improving policy legitimacy required to underpin finance commitments. Legislation for climate action will serve to support access to transformative finance through improved legal transparency and monitoring arrangements. To do so legislation should:

- 1. Provide language and guidance to support Fiji's ability to secure international climate finance, attract private sector investment, and initiate innovative blended finance arrangements.
- 2. Provide further legal context for ECAL utilisation and prioritisation within Fiji's climate change response.
- 3. Enable and support Fiji's ability to participate in cooperative and market-based mechanisms established through the Paris Agreement.
- 4. Support climate-induced mobility issues and loss and damage mitigation priorities through relevant mechanisms and systems.

GOAL 3 Legislation establishes the pathway for economy-wide decarbonisation

Climate change legislation is a central tool for regulating national emissions. To ensure that Fiji can meet national NDC commitments and phase out fossil fuels in an equitable way the climate change act must:

- 1. Establish the scope of Fiji's emissions reporting clarifying both mandatory and voluntary reporting requirements.
- 2. Delegate and legalise authority to: asses emissions profiles, regulate emissions, enforce national emissions standards, and provide the legal basis and requirements for monitoring sector-based emissions.
- 3. Define emission quantification methods.
- 4. Provide the legal basis for a national emissions monitoring, review, and verification (MRV) system.
- 5. Set out principles to support internationally verifiable MRV credibility and incentivise investment into mitigation actions. In alignment with the requirements of the *enhanced transparency framework* under the Paris Agreement, establish a system for coordinating the data required to report against Fiji's NDC and improve the accuracy and comparability of data through a national GHG accounting framework⁵².
- 6. Provide a legal basis for energy performance standards for vehicles and requirements for energy consumption labelling of electronic products while initiating the revision of existing energy compliance standards (prompting efforts to develop new standards and enforcement systems).

⁵² Such a framework will help to establish a national registry and database management system for emissions accounting or formalise use of an existing international registry

- 7. Set out legal requirements in relation to data disclosure and confidentiality to protect and define intentions for the benefit of the private sector.
- 8. Create the mandate to establish emissions reduction incentive schemes.
- 9. Set the basis for passing further legislation, as required, to help enable, guide, and enforce a national GHG accounting system, support an enabling environment for GHG reporting, facilitate greater stakeholder engagement, support the development of national and international carbon markets, and further establish and ratchet up program coverage.

OBJECTIVE 1.3 To accelerate resilient development objectives through the use of national standards of compliance

OUTCOMES

National standards are used to reduce national risk, incentivise behavioural change, and support Fiji's NDC commitments.

- The content, application, and enforcement options for Fiji's National Building Codes⁵³ is reviewed and adjusted to increase alignment with Fiji's mitigation and adaptation objectives. Distinctions, recommendations, and legal requirements are clarified and sensitised to suit rural, outer-island, and urban contexts ensuring that implementation and enforcement of the codes is appropriate. The use of codes and indexes for designing and evaluating the resilience of the built environment, public infrastructure, and private sector improves national capacity to measure and understand disaster risk reduction, energy efficiency, and climate change adaptation benefits.
- 2. Emissions standards for vehicles, white goods, and electronic products are used to manage and reduce national emissions, the pollution of the immediate local environment, and impacts upon human health.
- 3. Environmental impact assessment methods and procedures as well as safeguard policies for land-use planning are used to progress NCCP objectives.
- 4. National waste management standards, regulations, bans, and requirements reduce stressors on the environment.
- 5. Standards and codes of practice are used as required to accelerate the objectives set out within national and international policies and plans.

⁵³ It is recommended that the NCCCC works with the National Disaster Management Committee and associated ministries to establish recommendations to further clarify the role of Fiji's national building codes in relation to Fiji's resilient development objectives.

OBJECTIVE 1.4 To improve national capacity for strategic foresight

OUTCOMES

National development processes are enhanced through investment in robust risk assessments. Scenariobuilding exercises support pre-policy development, complement evidence-based decision making processes, enhance high-level oversight of national risk, and support the design of innovative risk financing tools.

STRATEGIES

- 1. A multi-disciplinary national risk foresight exercise⁵⁴ is carried out to explore key national risk variables over an agreed timeframe. National scenarios and options are used as high-level framing and guidance for the work of the NCCCC and *Cabinet Committee on Climate and Disaster Risks*.
- 2. Scenario development exercises are applied to improve the integration of traditional data with socio-economic trends, high level policy assumptions, and value-based preferences to support national-level strategies and overcome challenges related to decisions that involve deep uncertainty⁵⁵ about the future.
- 3. Long-term integrated scenarios are used to help overcome the limits and uncertainty of available climate models. *Long-term National Risk Scenario* products are produced on a 2–5-year basis.
- 4. Risk scenarios and innovative foresight tools are used to inform and support national prioritisation processes, system reform, policy development, investments, and climate finance targets as required⁵⁶.

FORESIGHT AND CLIMATE RISK MANAGEMENT

Current climate change projections, the findings of the IPCC's SR1.5, volatile global economic dynamics, and the intensity of natural hazards and disaster events have increased the need for enhanced capability to consider the long-term interactions and nexuses between different risks and trends. Foresight-oriented planning tools and scenario-building exercises are increasingly relied upon to support strategic decision-making processes in many industries, sectors, and governments worldwide. The exploration of different futures, variables and drivers of change can support consensus around the risks, clarify challenges which should be accounted for, used to evaluate development opportunities, and help to inform long-term investment planning.

These tools can be strategically important when considering and evaluating national policy options, large scale investments, and sector-wide risk management decisions. Foresight tools are increasingly useful for high-level decision making when major variables and drivers must be understood during the pre-policy development stage to help support the design of relevant strategies. In the Pacific context, existing data constraints, a lack of downscaled and technically sufficient climate projections due to ocean-climate dynamics, and the overall vulnerability and exposure of the region to external shocks, increases the case for the use of alternative methods to explore the implications of different emissions scenarios, socio-economic trends, and investments over different time horizons.

⁵⁴ Technical support is secured to develop a methodology for combining available qualitative, quantitative data on climate risks, socioeconomic trends, and related variables.

⁵⁵ Deep Uncertainty is defined by the World Bank as a situation in which analysts do not know or cannot agree on 1) models that predict the future 2) probability distributions of key variables and 3) the value of alternative outcomes (World Bank, 2018). Manging deep uncertainty requires increased attention to long-term pathways, risk probabilities and drivers, horizon scanning and the exploration of opportunities and options.

⁵⁶ Example applications: public transport system-design options explored in relation to LEDS scenarios, exploration of tourism and climate risks variables over 20 year timeframes, analysis of rural population change and projected population changes over long-term period based on socio-economic trends and projected climate risks.

2. Leadership and Global Climate Action

INTERNATIONAL CLIMATE LEADERSHIP STATEMENT

The Fijian Government is committed to the leadership and ambition required to tackle the interrelated challenges that climate and disaster risks pose to vulnerable nations and the well-being of future generations. Through international cooperation⁵⁷ and proactive advocacy, Fiji will advance an equitable and integrated global approach to climate risk management and reduction. To protect national wellbeing and ensure domestic priorities are not undermined, the Fijian Government will work with partners to ensure robust actions are taken to reduce the core drivers of climate change.

Climate change is the single greatest threat to Fiji's national security. The Fijian Government will continue to take action at the global level to establish greater accountability, reduce the core drivers of risk and solidify a robust multi-lateral response. Fiji and Pacific island countries have led the advocacy and action responsible for establishing the most crucial goal of the Paris Agreement - the commitment to keep average global warming to no more than 1.5 degrees Celsius above pre-industrial levels. Current projections based on collective NDCs put the world on track for three to six degrees of global warming by 2100⁵⁸. Average global warming of three degrees would yield catastrophic consequences for Pacific island countries and have devastating implications for most of the world's nations, environments, economies, and people. The SR15 report has clarified that achieving the 1.5°C goal remains achievable if global emissions peak by 2020, are reduced by 45% by 2030, and by 2050 are reduced to net zero⁵⁹. Recognising the vulnerability of Fiji and neighbouring Pacific Countries to the impacts of climate change and the elevated imperative for Pacific countries to address loss and damage, relocation needs, and cross-border migration issues, the NCCP provides the mandate for the Government of Fiji to continue to progress efforts to develop, coordinate, advocate and support common positions and objectives on loss and damage issues within global negotiations. Loss of cultural values , environmental assets, physical infrastructure, and habitable land have already been experienced in Fiji as a result of climate change. In accordance with Article 8 of the Paris Agreement the Fijian Government has progressed and continues to progress relevant actions to minimise loss and damage through emergency preparedness, risk management, and adaptation measures. The Fijian Government recognises that without increased global ambition to reduce GHG emissions, reduce detriment to the marine environment, and upscale international climate finance contributions, that Fiji will face increasing economic and non-economic losses. Unchecked, these losses will impact upon Fiji's livelihoods, culture, ecosystem integrity, and ability to meet the Sustainable Development Goals. Fiji has completed a number of village relocations and has formalised National Planned Relocation Guidelines to help increase the nation's ability to manage internal planned relocation issues caused by climate and disaster-related impacts. The Fijian Government remains deeply committed to driving urgent global action to address the root causes of global climate change. Fiji's ability to effectively implement the NCCP is greatly dependent on international climate ambition, global short and long-term emissions scenarios, the availability of timely and adequate international climate finance, and support for capacity building and technology transfer.

⁵⁷ 'International cooperation is a critical enabler for developing countries and vulnerable regions to strengthen their action for the implementation of 1.5°C-consistent climate responses, including through enhancing access to finance and technology and enhancing domestic capacities, taking into account national and local circumstances and needs (high confidence)' (SR1.5, SPM, IPCC, 2018

⁵⁸ (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2018)

⁵⁹ (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2018)

OBJECTIVE 2.1 To limit global average temperature rise to 1.5°C

OUTCOMES

Global climate risks are fundamentally reduced at source through increased global ambition. A strategic approach to the political opportunities to increase ambition through international platforms improves and increases the actions required to protect vulnerable states.

STRATEGIES

- 1. Coordination of priorities, positions, and objectives amongst Pacific island countries, global SIDS, and climate vulnerable nations is improved and used to increase political capital and leverage in global climate negotiations.
- 2. Strategic alignment, policy consistency, and engagement effectiveness between Fiji's outward-facing national ministries is improved.
- 3. A common SIDS position to ensure that the most damaging incarnations of fossil fuel-use are phased out is used to progress actions to eliminate highly damaging practices by 2030 (including the practice of burning coal for energy production⁶⁰).
- 4. Regional coordination supported by CROP agencies, UN bodies, international technical agencies, development partners, and the private sector is improved to ensure relationships, opportunities, and funding sources can be strategically utilised.
- Regional initiatives and governance mechanisms such as the Pacific Resilience Partnership and the Pacific Regional Nationally Determined Contributions Hub are leveraged to further support regional coherence, sharedoutcomes and enhanced knowledge exchange.
- 6. A consistent approach and policy to support complementary actions across all the international bodies associated with the international governance of GHG emissions ensures that progress in one area is not undercut but a lack of ambition in another⁶¹.

OBJECTIVE 2.2 To reduce climate-change related impacts on human well-being and national sovereignty through robust regional and international policy

OUTCOMES

National, Regional, and International policy actively pre-empts and protects climate-vulnerable populations through anticipatory and responsive policies, instruments, and systems for managing human mobility.

STRATEGIES

 Science informs and determines action. The findings of the IPCC Special Report on 1.5°C, upcoming Special Report on Oceans and the Cryosphere, 6th Assessment Report, global carbon emissions stock takes, and the development of future socio-economic scenarios are used to inform and strengthen global action to prevent catastrophic losses.

⁶⁰ Fiji is a member of the *Powering-Past Coal Alliance* and supports the international call to accelerate coal-phase out.

⁶¹ The governance for the management of global greenhouse-gas emissions is broadly managed across four international bodies: the UNFCCC, International Maritime Organisation (IMO), International Civil Aviation Organisation (ICAO), and United Nations Environment Program (UNEP, Montreal Protocol). The projected exponential growth of emissions from international transport over the coming decades means that is it vital for vulnerable nations to uphold a consistent message and level of engagement across these entities and their associated platforms for negotiations and reporting.

- 2. The United Nations Security Council establishes a permanent agenda item to address climate-change related security threats, ensuring the climate-security nexus is elevated and addressed appropriately within the global security dialogue.
- 3. Climate and disaster risk finance access is increased for vulnerable countries. International negotiations are used to further clarify that without adequate finance for adaptation, losses and damages will increase. Developed countries significantly increase international adaptation finance and prioritise simplified access mechanisms.
- 4. Human mobility is established as a priority human security and national security issue. Legal frameworks, policies and strategies to manage climate and disaster-induced displacement are used to protect human rights and reduce long term risks. Planned relocation is supported through relevant resourcing and national policies and strategies as a form of adaptation. Cross-border migration issues and policy development is supported through the United Nations and the *Global Compact for Safe, Orderly and Regular Migration*. The role of climate change in human displacement is articulated and international responsibilities defined.
- 5. Regional responses and safety nets are established to manage cross-border migration and displacement issues. Regional cooperation helps to ensure that national and regional responses adhere to international best practice and that displacement and relocation issues are pre-empted and minimised. Responses to climaterelated mobility issues consider the role of immigration policy and labour mobility initiatives as tools to support economic and adaptation-related priorities.

OBJECTIVE 2.3 To operationalise the Warsaw International Mechanism for Loss and Damage⁶²

OUTCOMES

The Warsaw International Mechanism for Loss and Damage provides adequate support to improve vulnerable countries' ability to address and reduce loss and damage.

- 1. Regional actions are taken to ensure that International agreements and frameworks account for the impact of climate change, disaster events, and internal and international displacement on culture, social cohesion, human rights, tradition, livelihoods, and equality.
- 2. The Warsaw International Mechanism (WIM) is further developed and equipped with appropriate processes that meaningfully support actions and solutions that address loss and damage.
- 3. Projects that are specifically designed to avert, minimise and address loss and damage are recognised and supported by relevant international climate finance funds, processes, and pipelines.
- 4. International investment in the minimisation of loss and damage is enabled and formalised by innovative financing instruments.
- 5. International support is used to establish regional and nationally-based funding mechanisms that support national planned relocation priorities.

 ⁶² At COP18 (2012) party members recognised that despite global efforts, many countries will experience irreversible and unavoidable 'loss and damage' as a result of climate change, deepening inequality and causing further detriment to those least responsible for climate change. Loss and damage in the context of the UNFCCC references both economic and non-economic (un-quantifiable) losses. Human displacement driven by climate and disaster-related drivers is likely to continue to increase the risk of conflict and economic shocks, create and exacerbate human rights issues, and undermine indigenous rights unless global efforts to manage these issues are drastically increased.

OBJECTIVE 2.4 To drive regional and global action to reduce stressors on the marine environment

OUTCOMES

National, regional, and international stewardship and protection of the marine environment is enhanced through robust actions, improved policy coherence, and industry-wide transitions, fundamentally reducing anthropogenic stressors on the global marine environment. Regional collaboration and policy addresses the dynamics between human development, global climate change, fisheries management, and oceanic health improving long-term Pacific governance of oceanic resources.

- 1. The shared interests of Pacific Island Countries⁶³ are articulated within regional and international policy narratives and used to support integrated ocean management objectives, ocean financing mechanisms, and marine protected area governance frameworks.
- 2. Recognising that increasing geo-political and economic interests require greater collective action, Pacific Island Countries enhance their foreign policy cooperation to advance ocean resource protection and security-related policy dialogue.
- 3. Through the Ocean Pathway actions and commitments are made to specifically address the ocean-climate nexus and ensure ocean protection-related adaptation and mitigation activities are effectively recognised under the Paris Agreement as vital and pivotal to the concept of 'environmental integrity'vi.
- 4. Deepened reflection of global climate change priorities, ecosystem integrity, and the core objectives of the sustainable development goals is reflected in global legal frameworks including through the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea and dialogue on biodiversity beyond national jurisdiction.
- 5. The United Nations Decade of Ocean Science for Sustainable Development and International Oceans Governance is used as a platform to engage with a range of partners, political groupings, and research organisations to advance national, regional, and global efforts to reduce the direct drivers of marine ecosystem degradation^{vii}.
- 6. National, regional, and international platforms are used to create and promote initiatives to reduce marine pollutants and plastics and enhance blue carbon sinks and reservoirs.
- 7. Appropriate and standardised methods for blue carbon valuation are established.
- 8. Research investments help to identify opportunities to advance the sustainability of the region's blue economies and support:
 - a) Regional regulation and control of deep-sea mining.
 - b) The development and access to affordable low carbon marine transport solutions
 - c) The development of sustainable ocean-based renewable energy production.
 - d) The use of technology and policy innovation to support marine monitoring and surveillance objectives and improve enforcement and protection of the Pacific's marine resources.

⁶³ Noting the values and priorities within the regional 'Blue Pacific' narrative endorsed by Pacific Island Forum Leaders.

THE OCEAN-CLIMATE NEXUS

The Fijian Government recognises that integrated ocean management, global emissions reduction efforts, national climate change adaptation, and risk reduction priorities are inextricably linked and must be transparently coordinated at local, national and global levels.

The Fijian Government and the People of Fiji recognise the following facts and statements as unequivocal:

- 1. Oceans cover 71% of the Earth's surface and contain 96% of the world's water⁶⁴.
- 2. The exchanges between the ocean and atmosphere drive and define global climate and weather patterns.
- 3. Ocean dynamics and circulations have a major bearing on the Earth's water cycle, precipitation, land temperatures, and regional climates.
- 4. Oceanic ecosystems produce as much as 85% of the world's breathable oxygen and are a major global source of human food security and livelihoods.
- 5. Oceans are the Earth's largest carbon sink.
- 6. Oceans absorb over 90% of the additional warmth resulting from anthropogenic greenhouse-gas emissions⁶⁵.
- 7. Carbon emissions are increasing global average sea surface temperatures while the increased absorption of carbon by the ocean is changing ocean chemistry at alarming rates, damaging marine ecosystem integrity⁶⁶.
- 8. Ocean warming, and glacier melt are increasing the detrimental impacts of oceans on human settlements due to the impacts of sea level rise, coastal erosion, inundation events, and salt water intrusion on human settlements and activities.
- Further adverse anthropogenic impacts on oceans are driven by overexploitation of fisheries, marine
 pollution, plastics, land degradation and unsustainable coastal development practices. These practices
 are further destabilising the health of the marine environment.
- 10. Human interactions with the climate and oceans are interlinked and continued stress on the climate and ocean will threaten human wellbeing, threaten to destabilise the global economy, and increase the frequency and scale of natural disaster events.
- 11. Without actions that address the interlinked drivers of atmospheric changes and practices that directly cause oceanic degradation at source, the potential for global mitigation actions to be effective in reducing mid to long-term global temperature rise will be significantly reduced.
- 12. If the current trends continue there is significant risk that the abundance and health of a broad range of marine life will be drastically reduced. Declining ocean productivity, the distributional shifts of fisheries due to warming oceans, ocean acidification, coral bleaching, pollution, resource exploitation, reef loss due to hydrometeorological events, and the resulting cumulative long-term damage to ecosystems pose a significant threat to Pacific Island Countries due to the dependency of their economies, livelihoods, cultures, and wellbeing on healthy ocean ecosystems⁶⁷.
- 13. Fiji, Pacific Island Countries, and all Small Island Developing States are at the forefront of these risks and call for urgent action to prevent catastrophic detriment to Pacific life. To do so, global interventions that continue to forge stronger linkages between ocean health and climate security are required.

⁶⁴ Heinrich Boll Foundation Schleswig-Holstein, 2017

⁶⁵ Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2018) (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2014) (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2001

⁶⁶ IPCC, SR1.5, SPM, 2018, B4.2 "Coral Reefs are projected to decline by a further 70-90% at 1.5°C (high confidence) with larger losses (→99%) at 2°C (very high confidence)."

⁶⁷ IPCC, SR1.5, SPM, 2018, B4.4 "Impacts of climate change in the ocean are increasing risks to fisheries and aquaculture via impacts on the physiology, survivorship, habitat, reproduction, disease incidence, and risk of invasive species (medium confidence) but are projected to be less at 1.5°C than at 2°C."

3. Climate Change Adaptation and Resilient Development DIMENSIONS

Fiji's National Adaptation Plan⁶⁸ will deliver the NCCP's climate adaptation objectives and direct national climate adaptation actions and investments. NAP objectives are designed to reduce short and mid-term climate risks while also addressing long-term climate projections. A NAP will be developed every five years and will be a primary vehicle for the ongoing process of integrating climate risk considerations and strategies into all areas of national decision-making. The NAP process will be guided by the NCCP's human rights-based, gender-responsive, evidence-based pillars of the policy and the woven approach. The monitoring of NAP progress will be guided by Fiji's adaptation commitments⁶⁹ under the Paris Agreements' *Global Goal on Adaptation*.

Climate change and disaster impacts in the Pacific can exacerbate multiple existing risk factors such as: poverty, hunger, disease, health, conflict, inadequate education, poor infrastructure, water and sanitation issues, unemployment, environmental degradation, social inequality, violence, and discrimination. In situations where climate adaptation measures fail, the risk of disaster can increase. In this way the implementation of the NCCP has direct implications for the implementation of Fiji's National Disaster Risk Reduction Policy and seeks to exploit synergies that ensure Fiji's NAP and NDC yield long term benefits that fundamentally reduce disaster risks. The NCCP's approaches and principles require that actions address and make use of the access, views, requirements, advice, and guidance provided by non-government actors. The support of a range of actors will be utilised to help advance social cohesion, and reduce risk in support of Fiji's resilient development objectives. Civil Society, the private sector, research and education institutions, local and international non-government organisations and faith-based organisations⁷⁰ have intimate access to communities and groups across Fiji and will play an increasingly important role in the coordination of Fiji's climate change response.

OBJECTIVE 3.1 To integrate the consideration of climate change projections, articulation of risk reduction responsibilities, and formulation of resilience-building objectives across all sector plans and strategies

OUTCOMES

Strengthened coordination capacity, policy coherence, and alignment of sector activities⁷¹ accelerates complementary climate-responsive actions and investments which increase national resilience. All dimensions of development planning, investment, and implementation are risk-informed and durable under a range of future climate change scenarios.

- 1. Integrated national risk scenarios, climate projections, and foresight tools are used to translate global and regional trends and risks into national and localised policy implications.
- Fiji's 2015 NDC is enhanced to reflect high-priority adaptation targets, actions, and indicators improving high level prioritisation and articulation of Fiji's climate adaptation needs. The enhancement of Fiji's NDC improves systems for tracking adaptation progress.

⁶⁸ Fiji's climate change adaptation planning will be informed by the NCCP's strategic objectives and coordinated and driven through the National Adaptation Plan Process. The NAP will be developed and guided by the National Adaptation Plan Framework and the National Adaptation Plan Steering Committee.

⁶⁹ National Adaptation Communications and NDC Commitments

⁷⁰ Religious institutions for instance have a broad network that can be further utilised for awareness-raising and continue to be important conduits for public information sharing.

⁷¹ I.e. with NAP and LEDS objectives, the SDGs, and Fiji's National Development Plan

- 3. Climate risk considerations and risk mitigation responses are integrated into all sector plans. Priorities, indicators, and targets for evaluating progress against resilience-building objectives are clearly demonstrated by all ministries⁷².
- 4. Ministerial portfolios and functions are assessed in relation to climate risks. Relevant adjustments and changes to responsibilities, key performance indicators, and mandates are made to improve the strategic and logical linkages between issues and responsibilities.
- 5. A network of climate change focal points is established, mobilised, and embedded across all ministries (objective 1.1).
- 6. Collaboration and consultation between ministerial portfolios and sectors is improved in recognition of interlinked dependencies, risks, and opportunities and the need to further coordinate planning and budgeting.
- 7. Cross-government systems for coordination, tracking, and co-management of climate finance flows for adaptation and resilience building are improved.

OBJECTIVE 3.2 To increase ecosystem protection, natural resource redundancy, and environmental resilience through nature-based solutions

OUTCOMES

Climate change adaptation activities improve both human and environmental resilience, incentivise environmental conservation⁷³, and progress actions to rehabilitate and grow natural assets (increasing redundancy and robustness). The climate resilience-building services of forests, mangroves, inter-tidal zones, wetlands, agricultural land, and coral reefs, are enhanced and accounted for through revised natural resource management practices. The interrelated impacts of climate change, disasters, and human development on Fiji's natural environment are reduced.

- 1. Flexible ecosystem-based adaptation solutions which protect biodiversity, increase carbon sequestration potential and reduce human vulnerability to climate impacts are prioritised and utilised where possible to reduce climate and disaster risk.
- 2. Existing environmental policies and planning regulations are revised where required to improve consideration of the implications of climate change projections and risks.
- 3. Ministries with environmental oversight collaborate closely to improve policy coherence recognising the need to better represent the inter-relations between environments, human behaviours, economic interests, and human development needs in response to increasing climate change-related stressors and risks.
- 4. Methods are formalised for assessing and quantifying the adaptation and mitigation co-benefits resulting from environmental conservation activities.
- 5. Environmental impact assessment methods, regulations, and safeguard criteria are aligned to support climate adaptation, disaster risk, and greenhouse-gas mitigation objectives. Full cost accounting methods are used to evaluate infrastructure proposals.

⁷² Though in some cases, the development of specific climate-related policies and plans will be required, where possible, the number of existing guiding plans, strategies, and polices should be kept to a minimum and amendments should be integrated as much as possible into one central approach to sector development and management.

⁷³ The NAP will be designed to reflect the need to balance environmental sustainability and productivity with the often-conflicting requirements of the built environment and economic development. Fiji's adaptation to climate change will be closely woven with activities to protect carbon sinks and efforts to use the natural environment as a buffer-zone to help reduce the impact of natural hazard events. Greater inter-governmental policy coherence is required to reduce the impact of development on natural resources and ecosystems.

- 6. Fiji's marine and terrestrial pollution reduction objectives are clarified and progressed through policy instruments and regulations.
- 7. The management of the interactions between waterways, extractive practices, and land-based development is improved through activities and policy reducing added stressors on marine and terrestrial ecosystems.
- 8. Land-use decisions and activities are regulated to ensure activities do not deepen existing inequalities and exacerbate vulnerabilities.
- 9. Marine spatial planning and maritime management objectives are supported by national ocean data services and information systems.
- 10. The cumulative percentage of Fiji's maritime zones demarcated as managed marine protected areas is increased.
- 11. Large-scale marine managed areas and locally managed coastal fisheries are supported by governance frameworks designed to help ensure that managed and protected marine zones build measurable environmental and human resilience.⁷⁴
- 12. The percentage of forests, wetlands, and mangroves protected by environmental law is increased with a priority given to protecting areas which provide natural protection to people and ecosystems.
- 13. Natural resource management and compliance incentives are used to support and enhance local livelihoods.
- 14. Formal government support for community-based management of marine and terrestrial assets is increased.
- 15. Scenario and multi-criteria analysis based-tools are applied to inform the use of Fiji's environmental resources, reducing the risk of mal-adaptation, environmental degradation, and the potential for risk exacerbation.
- 16. The objectives of international frameworks such as the *Convention on Biodiversity*, *Aichi Targets*, and *UN Convention to Combat Desertification* are supported and progressed through ecosystem-based adaptation solutions.
- 17. Fiji's National Ocean Policy enhances integrated ocean governance in Fiji, supporting Fiji's UN Oceans Commitments, promotes actions complementary to the principles of NCCP's woven approach⁷⁵, and furthers the coordination of the domestic actions required to protect and enhance ocean health (through national focal points, and direct linkages with objectives of the NDP, NCCP, NAP, LEDS, and SDG 14).

OBJECTIVE 3.3 To secure equal and sustainable access to the produce, products, resources, and services that support human health and wellbeing

OUTCOMES

Climate resilient food security-building initiatives, freshwater protection strategies, and investments in health infrastructure and services ensure that human health and wellbeing are not undermined by the impacts of climate change.

STRATEGIES

1. Robust prioritisation processes are used to improve the 'agility' of adaptation investments systematically improving, increasing the access to, and reducing the vulnerability of basic service provision (i.e. water, electricity, shelter, education, health).

⁷⁴ This target will be in part derived from the combined guidance of the NAP and LEDS to ensure mitigation and adaptation co-benefits are maximised.

⁷⁵ Through further instruments to ensure oceanic and marine priorities are: integrated into planning processes, supported through widened participation and consultation, enhanced through education, awareness, capacity building, and data and evidence-based decision making

- 2. The management of freshwater resources and infrastructure is adapted in response to climate change projections.
- National health services access additional funding to improve the ability to monitor climate change impacts on health, develop preventative measures, and implement awareness campaigns designed to reduce the impacts of climate change on human health.⁷⁶
- 4. Technical climate projections are translated into actionable advice and made readily available to farmers through information products which provide accessible guidance⁷⁷ for improving seasonal planning.
- 5. Investment in the research and introduction of climate resilient crop types and strains, the expansion of aquaculture, climate-smart agricultural practices, and innovative crop insurance schemes are used to increase the overall resilience of Fiji's agricultural sector.
- 6. Technical assistance and capacity development initiatives support the long-term diversification of Fiji's productive sectors and the reduction of losses in crop yield.
- 7. Integrated coastal and fisheries management methods are used to help protect local food security and livelihoods.
- 8. Development activities are designed to support long-term sustainability and reduce intergenerational risks through the consideration of long-term national implications alongside short to mid-term objectives.

OBJECTIVE 3.4 To implement climate change adaptation solutions which are inclusive, equitable, and locally-driven

OUTCOMES

Climate adaptation outcomes are equitably distributed through interventions which address social dynamics as well as physical climate-related risks. Adaptation initiatives are culturally relevant, sensitive and appropriate and maintain and enhance the elements of existing social structures that inform social cohesiveness. Subnational, local, and non-governmental actors have direct access to resources to support the implementation of local climate change adaptation activities⁷⁸ and are empowered to contribute to Fiji's National Development Plan objectives and the Sustainable Development Goals.

- 1. A demand-driven approach to adaptation is established through mechanisms that reduce reliance on central government implementation and empower communities to respond to risks.^{viii}
- 2. Stakeholders adhere to a common and consistent set of social and environmental safeguards when designing, evaluating and implementing adaptation investments.
- 3. Recognising that the roots of vulnerability and inequality are often complex, policy and adaptation-related initiatives benefit from investment in social research, socio-economic analysis^{ix} and partnerships with academic centres of excellence, improving the scope for transformative behaviour-based adaptation initiatives.
- 4. Inclusive multi-stakeholder-led consultations are used to identify adaptation-specific capacity gaps, risks, and opportunities.

⁷⁶ The Ministry of Health's Climate Change and Health Strategic Action Plan 2016–2020 provides robust guidance for building a 'climate-resilient health system in Fiji' and acknowledges the way in which existing challenges and issues such as the prevalence of non-communicable disease in Fiji will be exacerbated under different climate change scenarios. The NCCP acknowledges the existence of this plan and the role it will play in supporting the NAP process.

⁷⁷ The NCCP's evidence-based approach and knowledge management objectives aim to improve the quality and accessibility of climate change projections, seasonal predictions, hydrological analysis, hazard maps, and climate risk assessments.

⁷⁸ Ensuring alignment with the Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP) and the Convention for Safeguarding of Intangible Cultural Heritage (UNCSICH)

- 5. Traditional and local knowledge are leveraged to enhance applicability, relevance, and efficiency of adaptation actions. Traditional knowledge⁷⁹ is considered in the design of adaptation interventions and non-traditional local knowledge is integrated within planning processes to support the understanding of current risks, behaviours, and solutions.
- 6. Sustainable and resilient infrastructure and adaptation investments are designed to be flexible to accommodate changing risk parameters^x.
- 7. Fiji's National Planned Relocation Guidelines are operationalised through the development of Standard Operating Procedures which establish pro-active processes for addressing the risk of climate and disasterdriven displacement. At-risk communities are successfully relocated and supported. National procedures for assessing and implementing planned relocations are enabled by relevant financial mechanisms.

FIJI'S NATIONAL OCEANS POLICY

The Government of *Fiji's National Oceans Policy* will support the objectives of the NCCP through actions to further reduce the interlinked impacts of climate change, development, and pollution on the health and productivity of Fiji's oceanic resources. This policy is intended to ensure that Fiji's marine ecosystems can remain intact and productive through enhanced sustainable management practice, the expansion of conservation areas, the implementation of robust enforcement mechanisms, and incentives to promote environmental protection. This policy will:

- Support the sustainability of coastal ecosystems and reduce the impact of human development activities on marine ecosystems through strengthened environmental protection measures.
- Provide guidance and establish mechanisms to support the monitoring of the health of the marine environment.
- 3. Increase financing for marine ecosystem restoration initiatives.
- 4. Formalise and incentivise efforts to increase the coverage, and enforcement of marine protected areas, while ensuring minimal disruption to traditional livelihoods and promoting the sustainable local management of inshore fisheries.
- Increase capability for the regulation and enforcement of national fisheries and activities within Fiji's economic exclusion zone, in part, through the increased use of technology.

OBJECTIVE 3.5 To integrate climate adaptation and disaster risk management priorities

OUTCOMES

National risk governance is agile, efficient and effective. Common priorities within national disaster and climate change risk reduction agendas are translated into integrated activities and objectives.

STRATEGIES

 Interlinked and related disaster risk reduction and climate change adaptation priorities are identified and used to progress further integrated actions that address and are relevant to both fast and slow onset hazard events as well as longer-term climate impacts and risks.

⁷⁹ Traditional knowledge refers to the practices, methods, innovations, and knowledge of indigenous and local communities which is built on generations of observational-science and experience. Traditional knowledge is an important tool for influencing behaviour, can be used to enhance data, risk assessments, and support self-assessment and citizen-science initiatives.

- Public messaging platforms are used to improve public awareness of the connectivity between climate change impacts and disaster risks. Integrated communications strategies focus on promoting common practices and behaviours that build societal resilience to a range of risks and hazards.
- 3. The NCCP's integrated approach is used to support improved risk governance arrangements, supporting improved resource efficiency and reducing potential for duplication and policy inconsistency.
- 4. Development partner coordination and responsiveness is improved reducing the sectorisation of DRR and CCA in project design.
- 5. Planned relocation priorities and operations are co-delivered by DRR and CCA leads.
- 6. Integrated early warning systems support slow onset risk reduction priorities.
- 7. The implementation and conceptualisation of 'build back better' is defined by climate and disaster risk priorities.
- 8. Innovative, low cost, scalable, and sustainable risk finance tools are developed for risk prevention, retention, and transfer purposes and serve to fundamentally reduce both physical risks and financial burdens on Fiji's citizens, private sector, and government.

4. Climate Change Mitigation and Resilient Development

DIMENSIONS

Fiji's national emissions currently account for approximately 0.006% of global emissions while Fiji's historical and cumulative contribution to the anthropogenic climate change over the last two centuries has been negligible. However, under a business as usual scenario, Fiji's cumulative annual emissions are likely to double by 2050. Article 4 of the Paris Agreement recommends that parties communicate by 2020, to the secretariat, mid-century, long-term low greenhouse gas emission development strategies in accordance with Article 4, paragraph 19, of the Agreement⁸⁰. Pursuant to Article 4 and paragraph 19 of the Paris Agreement, in 2018, The Fijian Government has developed a Low Emissions Development Strategy (LEDS) to provide long-term multi-sectoral guidance for achieving net-zero national carbon emissions by 2050. Building climate resilience requires cross-cutting actions that, where possible, simultaneously serve to protect the natural environment, manage social and economic risk, and reduce GHG emissions. GHG mitigation targets must be achieved alongside crucial adaptation objectives. Protecting the environment through robust land-use policies and practices can enhance long-term mitigation outcomes through both the reduction of GHG emissions and actions that increase the carbon sequestration potential of natural carbon sinks. The NCCP provides the basis for anchoring the mitigation component of Fiji's NDC commitments in national governance structures. Revised governance arrangements for monitoring Fiji's progress against its NDC will be required in order to manage implementation, improve planning, and enable longterm decarbonisation.

OBJECTIVE 4.1 To derive 100% of national electricity production from renewable energy sources by 2030 and achieve net zero annual greenhouse-gas emissions by 2050

OUTCOMES

Electricity is derived from 100% renewable sources by 2030 and national greenhouse gas emissions reduction targets for 2050 are met by 2050. Fiji's dependency on fossil fuels is minimised reducing exposure to localised pollution and decoupling economic growth from fossil fuel consumption.

⁸⁰ With reference to Article 2, 'taking into account their common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities, in the light of different national circumstances' (Paris Agreement)

STRATEGIES

- A revised National Energy Policy and enhanced 2030 Nationally Determined Contribution to the Paris Agreement are used to progress a cross-sectoral approach to decarbonisation through renewable energy technology, efficiency improvements, demand-based reductions, clean transport initiatives, waste management innovation, behaviour-change, and climate-smart urban and rural development initiatives.⁸¹
- 2. Criteria-based prioritisation processes are used to guide and evaluate sector emissions reduction options improving the ability to articulate resource requirements, facilitate technology transfer, and drive capacity building.
- 3. The enabling environment for private sector investment and domestic capacity building is improved (see *Pathway objectives*) supporting deep decarbonisation objectives.
- 4. A transparent and fit for purpose system for national emission accounting and governance is institutionalised effectively tracking progress against Fiji's NDC commitments and supporting long-term emissions reduction strategies.
- 5. Ministerial portfolios and functions are assessed in relation to decarbonisation objectives. Relevant adjustments and changes to responsibilities, key performance indicators and mandates are made to improve the strategic and logical linkages between issues and responsibilities.

SUB-OBJECTIVE 4.1.1 To decarbonise Fiji's transport sector

OUTCOMES

Fiji's transport sector continues to grow and diversify improving human mobility, equitable access to services, while reducing local and global environmental impacts and national exposure to oil price volatility. Transport sector growth is decoupled from growth in greenhouse-gas emissions. By 2050, investments in low carbon transport options, infrastructure and transport efficiency improvements and behaviour-change have reduced domestic transport emissions to minimal levels which are fully offset by national carbon sequestration-enhancing activities.

- 1. Fiji's NDC is enhanced to reflect ambitious decarbonisation targets for domestic aviation, inter-island marine transportation, and land transport sectors and supported by national action plans and strategies.
- 2. Public-private partnerships and incentives scale-up access to affordable low to zero carbon transport products and markets.
- Increased annual public investment on public transport improves inclusive, affordable, and low to zero carbon transport options for rural, urban, and outer island citizens. Carbon-intensive modes of transport are disincentivised and phased-out.
- 4. Investments in urban green spaces improve pedestrian experiences and infrastructure required to support nonmotorised transport, reducing the growth of the private land transport sector.
- 5. Low-carbon maritime transport options and shipping efficiency improvements are used to improve the costeffectiveness of shipping routes, increasing inter-island connectivity (both frequency and introduction of new routes) in keeping with NDP objectives⁸².

⁸¹ New technology: renewable energy sources, energy storage systems, grid distribution and transmission efficiency improvements, infrastructure efficiency improvements. Demand-side energy reductions: revised standards of compliance, behaviour-change and awareness initiatives, fiscal incentives, regulations, and capacity building.

⁸² National Development Plan (2017) Section 3.3.2 Inter-Island Network and the commitment to 'Safe, efficient, reliable, and affordable shipping services. Enhanced inter-island mobility will improve national resilience and safety noting that access to government service delivery, trade, health care, emergency services, and disaster response and relief operations are increasingly dependent on inter-island transport.

- 6. Increased engagement with the International Maritime Organisation⁸³ improves access to networks and mechanisms that support low carbon shipping transitions^{xii}.
- 7. Engagement with international market-based mechanisms including the International Civil Aviation Organisation's (ICAO) Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for International Aviation (CORSIA)^{xiii} is used to leverage further support for sector-based low carbon transport transitions.

OBJECTIVE 4.2 To prioritise greenhouse-gas mitigation initiatives that increase national resilience and help achieve the Sustainable Development Goals

OUTCOMES

All Fijians have access to affordable clean and reliable electricity and transport. Fuel poverty is eliminated, reducing reliance on primary fuel types such as firewood (SDG7)^{xiv}. Investments and initiatives to reduce greenhouse-gas emissions^{xv} minimise environmental damage, reduce economic exposure to oil price fluctuations, and reduce human exposure to natural hazards.

STRATEGIES

- 1. Energy system redundancy and decentralisation of Fiji's energy production assets is improved through investment into localised renewable energy sources and associated infrastructure.
- Clarity of objectives, progress reporting, robust cost-benefit analysis, multi-criteria assessment, and the development of levelised energy production option costs ensures investments in the transition to 100% renewable energy are effective, efficient, that social and economic trade-offs are minimised, and the potential to leverage private sector and concessional finance increased.
- 3. Environmental impact assessments are used to reduce the potential for energy projects to cause environmental detriment and are applied where relevant.
- 4. A just transition to net-zero is enabled through a focus on exploiting economic opportunities and development co-benefits, capacity building, decent work, and the affordability of energy and transport options.
- 5. Transport investment options that provide vital services for vulnerable and remote communities as well as highly populated areas are prioritised.^{84,xvi}
- 6. Increased engagement with research institutions is used to improve ocean health monitoring and observation, progress ocean energy options and access to low carbon transport technology.

OBJECTIVE 4.3 To preserve and enhance Fiji's natural carbon sinks and carbon reservoirs

OUTCOMES

Fiji's natural carbon reservoirs and the carbon sequestration potential of Fiji's natural carbon sinks⁸⁵ are quantified and accounted for helping to further establish these natural resources as valued assets and incentivising further investment into environmental protection, rehabilitation and enhancement.

⁸³ Noting the IMO's international shipping sector decarbonisation target of a 50% reduction in cumulative industry emissions by 2050

⁸⁴ Noting disaster risk reduction, economic resilience, and adaptation related co-benefits.

⁸⁵ I.e. forests, wetlands, coastal zones, mangroves

STRATEGIES^{xvii}

- 1. Environmental protection of natural carbon reservoirs and carbon sinks is enhanced through an inter-governmental approach guided by actions taken in response to Article 6 of the Paris Agreement.
- 2. National methodologies for quantifying, valuing, enhancing, and accounting for carbon sequestration services (carbon sinks and reservoirs) are used to enhance Fiji's NDC, improve national carbon accounting, drive conservation incentives, and support actions to improve environmental resilience to climate change.
- 3. Land-use planning regulations and relevant environmental policies are revised in relation to LEDS and NAP guidance.
- 4. Sub national government, private sector, community-based fiscal incentive schemes are used to enhance environmental protection and conservation activities.
- 5. Revised targets for afforestation initiatives, Fiji's REDD+ initiative^{xviii}, reef and fisheries conservation, mangrove protection and planting initiatives, nature-based coastal protection applications, and sustainable agricultural practices are quantified further within Fiji's NDC targets
- 6. Revised NDC targets are reflected in relevant plans and supported through relevant incentive schemes, national levies, and sub-national government enforcement mechanisms.
- 7. The forests, wetlands, and mangroves are protected and enhanced through afforestation and regeneration programmes, and protection incentives which cumulatively serve to ensure there is no net loss in forests, wetlands, and mangroves by 2030 (using 2016–2019 baseline).
- 8. Sustainable management of forestry supply chains is ensured through robust transparency systems, afforestation targets, and the demarcation of *zero-deforestation* zones.
- 9. Blue carbon initiatives and other carbon sequestration service-enhancing activities contribute to net zero carbon emissions targets.
- 10. Nature-based bonds and insurance products are developed and implemented to support NDC commitments.

5. National Capacity Development

Enhancing national (analytical, human, technological) capacity to manage interrelated risks is vital to Fiji's efforts to manage climate change impacts and development challenges. Information and knowledge management, multi-criteria analysis, public awareness-raising, and local-level risk management capacity are key prerequires for enabling an effective national response to climate change risks. These needs traverse and have potential to contribute to various national development priorities and have potential to accelerate solutions. New ways of producing, sharing, analysing, and responding to information and data is required to manage increasing complexity. National information and communication systems must be dynamic in order to respond to changing data needs, facilitate transparent and verifiable monitoring and evaluation systems, and enable improved systems for evidence-based decision making. Fiji's ability to respond to the complex challenges posed by climate change will require new efforts to increase public awareness, support private sector engagement, and increase capacity building opportunities. Technology transfer is a vital enabler for specific adaptation, mitigation, and risk reduction activities as well as central to improved knowledge management, data capture, and analysis.

PATHWAYS

OBJECTIVE 5.1 To improve data availability, analytical-capacity, risk communications and awareness

OUTCOMES

Ministerial capacity to analyse, tailor, verify and filter an increasing variety of data is reflected in the accuracy and effectiveness of long-term planning, investments, and policy. Technical project proposal capacity is increased helping to accelerate climate finance access. Public capacity to manage and reduce climate risks is improved. Government ministries and agencies invest strategically and effectively in equitable and resilient development initiatives.

- 1. A national climate change communications strategy guides the dissemination of information through a variety of formats, media-types, languages, and communication channels improving public awareness, increasing consistent public engagement, and supporting risk reduction and preparedness objectives.
- 2. Secure and sustainable data storage is established through a national data repository. Connectivity is improved through inter-government information sharing protocols and processes to simplify information exchange, data reusability, and discoverability.
- 3. Relevant national and international data sharing agreements are secured to improve data access and protect national data sovereignty.
- 4. Structured investment into data collection technology and human resources to support analytical capabilities is used to improve the enabling environment for evidence-based decision-making⁸⁶.
- 5. Multi-criteria assessment⁸⁷ and cost benefit analysis methods are standardised within investment planning processes.
- 6. Fiji's network of meteorological and hydrological stations⁸⁸ is maintained, upgraded, and expanded improving the capacity of government to capture and produce downscaled climate information.
- 7. Localised capacity to produce risk assessments and evaluate risk probability is improved increasing public and cross-sectorial access to robust evidence for decision-making.

⁸⁶ Evidence-based Decision Making Tools: Cost-Benefit Analysis, Multi-Criteria Assessment, Scenario Analysis, Dynamic Adaptive Planning, Foresight-based Policy Pathway design methods, Info-gap Decision Theory, Engineering Options Analysis, Resilience Index, Robust Decision Making (RDM) theory, Full-life cycle analysis

⁸⁷ Multi criteria decision making is a type of operational research which is focused on identifying optimal options or results in complex scenarios in which various criteria, indicators and conflicting objectives must be considered. (Kumar & et al, 2017)

⁸⁸ Ensuring the environments surrounding observation stations are not impacted by industries or activities that may distort data accuracy and using *Fiji Meteorological Services: Implementation Plan for Enhanced Climate Services* (2019–2024) to guide the investment

FROM DATA TO OUTCOME

Delivering Fiji's Adaptation and Mitigation Objectives through Evidence-based Safe-guards



FIGURE 3 From Data to Outcome, Fiji's EBDM Approach

OBJECTIVE 5.2 To invest strategically in human and technological capacity-building for climate-resilient development

OUTCOMES

Fijian citizens are increasingly equipped with relevant specialist skills to support Fiji's resilient development priorities, GHG mitigation targets, private sector reform objectives, and technical and practical skill gaps.

- 1. National curriculums and innovative learning platforms improve access and exposure to relevant disciplines, skills, and expertise pathways.
- The Fijian Government promotes access to relevant national university courses, degrees, and modules that address expertise gaps and enrich skills required to develop a *climate-ready* workforce while investing in the professional enrichment of civil servants.
- 3. Improved civil service knowledge management systems, IT services, and centralised databases encourage cross-sector communication, information sharing, and capacity development.
- 4. Key performance indicators and job descriptions for civil servants are updated to reflect new requirements and deliverables.

- 5. Inter-regional and bilateral knowledge exchange as well as service-agreements and partnerships with centres of excellence, academia and research institutions are increased improving the enabling environment for innovation and technology transfer⁸⁹.
- 6. Research and development funds are accessed to progress national climate resilience building objectives and opportunities for innovation.
- 7. Sub-national and local access to information, capacity building, and data collection services is improved through decentralisation initiatives that support locally-driven activities.
- 8. Technology transfer and uptake is increased and enhanced through the development of technology development targets and technology upgrade roadmaps where relevant within sector plans.⁹⁰
- Investment in employment transitions through national capacity building influences emerging skill sets and expertise to support a workforce with the required skills to support long-term low carbon transitions (See Strategic Pathway 7).
- 10. Domestic capacity building outcomes are included and budgeted for within all climate finance proposals.

6. Sustainable Financing

Finance and resource mobilisation is vital for ensuring Fiji's ability to respond to the impacts of climate change and achieve net-zero national emissions. Fiji's response will require the utilisation and integration of a variety of finance sources and flows. International and domestic private sector finance, institutional investments, innovative blended finance structures and instruments, and results-based financing initiatives, will be required alongside international climate finance, overseas development assistance and development bank support. Articulating climate finance requirements will continue to require robust processes for prioritisation. These processes will benefit from the NCCP's advancement of evidence-based decision-making and knowledge management objectives. The National Adaptation Process will establish mechanisms for adaptation-based climate finance prioritisation and resource mobilisation whilst the mitigation component of Fiji's NDC, strategic guidance of the LEDS, and sector-based mitigation plans will support the coordination and oversight of financing national GHG emissions reduction priorities.

OBJECTIVE 6.1 To Increase the use and availability of domestically-derived climate finance

OUTCOMES

National investments, private sector activities, and government initiatives are aligned to support national resilience-building objectives and economic protection.

STRATEGIES

- 1. Government revenue collection instruments and innovative financing initiatives are used to increase public resources for national resilience-building^{xix}.
- 2. Innovative risk financing instruments and products support a cohesive financial protection strategy for Fiji's future. Products such as index-based crop insurance and parametric housing insurance support agricultural

⁸⁹ Noting the concept of 'triple helix innovation' in which the abilities of government, academia, and industry are cooperatively leveraged to boost competitiveness and enable development gains through policy, science, and market-based innovation.

⁹⁰ The Paris Agreement recognises the urgent need to enhance the provision of technology transfer to aid developing country parties, Paris Agreement, Article 3 (40) (68)
transitions and help incentivise investment in resilient public housing^{xx}. Policy actions create an enabling environment for the growth of Fiji's insurance sector prompting the development of affordable insurance schemes for personal property, investments, and healthcare increasing social protection.

- 3. In keeping with the NCCP's principles of 'agility' and 'inclusiveness' climate finance is both accessed and implemented at the local level reducing the overall reliance on top down delivery and broadening societal participation in the design and implementation of risk reduction solutions and the delivery of NDP objectives.
- 4. Investment in financial technology (FinTech) is used to support and expand available platforms for deploying, implementing, and managing domestic climate finance, risk finance instruments, and carbon mitigation objectives.
- 5. Major infrastructure investments made by the private sector are required to demonstrate alignment with Fiji's enhanced NDC commitments (inclusive of both adaptation and mitigation objectives) increasing private sector contribution to low carbon transition and climate adaptation priorities.
- 6. Fiji Development Bank increases domestic and regional access to finance and plays an increasing role in driving large transformative investments.

OBJECTIVE 6.2 To leverage internationally-derived climate-finance for transformative outcomes

OUTCOMES

International private financial investors and multilateral climate finance sources are harnessed to progress major transformational programmes and initiatives.

STRATEGIES

- 1. A National climate finance strategy and framework is developed to support, coordinate, and design Fiji's ongoing climate finance access.
- 2. Government coordination and prioritisation processes guided by the NCCP's *woven approach*, LEDS, and NAP, improve and scale up the design of programmatic, sector-wide, and transformative investments and initiatives.
- 3. Through the institutionalisation of appropriate governance arrangements, accounting systems, and transparency frameworks, Fiji's access to public and private climate finance is increased.
- 4. A dedicated fund is created to support and enable Fiji's planned relocation requirements.
- Development partners coordinate funding objectives in alignment with the NDC, NDP, NCCP, DRRP, NAP and LEDS prioritising actions that cross-cut priorities, avoid duplication and minimise administrative burden on Government^{xxi}.
- 6. In response to Article 6 of the Paris Agreement, the Fijian Government supports the scale-up of cooperative approaches and internationally transferred mitigation outcomes and accesses further support for Fiji's NDC commitments^{xxii}.
- 7. Fiji leads regional climate finance innovation through partnerships and the piloting of non-traditional and hybrid financing arrangements.
- 8. National policy and prioritisation processes are used to leverage finance to enhance ocean protection initiatives, ocean-based adaptation and the enhancement of blue carbon sinks.
- 9. International finance and financers support the development of national risk finance instruments and insurance products.

OBJECTIVE 6.3 To improve and amend public financial management systems in response to changing public service delivery requirements

OUTCOMES

Improved public financial management^{xxiii} systems, coordination mechanisms, budget-coding and investment effectiveness tracking accelerate the Fijian Government's ability to plan and deliver resilient development objectives while increasing the efficiency and effectiveness of implementation.

STRATEGIES

- 1. Climate-responsive budgeting and coding systems are used to support the tracking of implementation effectiveness.
- 2. Financial tracking systems are used to develop best practice required to improve capacity for evidence-based investments.
- 3. Robust public asset management systems and centralised registry databases improve the upkeep, maintenance, and tracking of national assets.
- 4. Robust and appropriate accounting requirements for private sector and non-government agencies are developed to support the feasibility of multi-stakeholder implementation arrangements.

7. Private Sector Transition and Engagement

PATHWAYS

The Fijian Government is committed to economically pragmatic cross-sectoral and economy-wide action on climate. Enhancing the role of the private sector in the financing and delivery of climate change adaptation, GHG emissions reduction, sustainable development, and national disaster risk reduction objectives is a crucial global objective and a key enabler for effective national climate change responses. Achieving greater alignment and linkages between the interests^{xxiv}, objectives, and investments of the public and private sectors requires efforts to increase the awareness of mutual interests and the development of greater incentives for collaboration. Improved understanding of the business rationale for promoting normative change within the private sector in light of climate change impacts can be achieved through increased dialogue and consultation between sectors.

PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SECTOR ENGAGEMENT ARRANGEMENTS

Public and private sector engagement arrangements can be classified broadly under three engagement types:

- Informal: Informal engagement and alignment is facilitated by ad-hoc collaboration and information sharing. *Examples*: Public-Private consultation forums. Use of focal points to coordinate information sharing between sectors.
- Strategic: Strategic engagement and alignment is facilitated by policies, agreements, and mechanisms that
 exploit synergies. This engagement is coordinated through formal mechanisms to maintain and guide ongoing
 rather than ad-hoc alignment. Strategic engagement informs specific rather than broad shared objectives. *Examples*: Ad-hoc project-based agreements to deliver specific outcomes. Policy to encourage opportunity for
 collaboration. Agreements to share information on specific issues continuously.
- Harmonised: Harmonised engagement is facilitated through close coordination of shared commitments and
 objectives in a holistic way. This level of alignment is defined by shared roles in implementation and the use of
 integrated strategies. Examples: Policy is used to incentivise business models which exist to support shared
 objectives. Agreements which formally create long-term pipelines for the implementation of public projects by
 private entities. Information sharing arrangements which have a legal basis.

In order to maximise the involvement of the private sector in the delivery of Fiji's central development and climate change-related objectives, a mixture of the above engagement types will need to be explored across the various branches of the private sector.

Fiji's adaptation and mitigation objectives are contingent on the increased alignment of public and private sector priorities. The enabling environment for private sector engagement will be supported through the objectives and actions set out by the NAP and LEDS. Actions will be taken to incentivise the private sector and increase the private sector's contribution to positive social outcomes, the promotion social normative and behavioural changes, and public awareness raising. External investment and markets will be key to supporting the private sector's development and its ability to support public sector priorities. The Fijian Government will *improve* the investment environment in ways that attract and enable international investment, facilitate the development of strategic partnerships, and improve access to international markets.

OBJECTIVE 7.1 To enhance public and private sector engagement and alignment

OUTCOMES

Greater alignment between the public and private sector leverages the resources, support, and consistency of approach required to scale-up economy-wide climate change adaptation, risk management, and low carbon transitions.

STRATEGIES

- 1. New public-private engagement mechanisms and policies increase incentives, that promote collaboration between the public and private sector.
- 2. Climate-resilient economic transitions are supported by a formal national platform for public-private information sharing⁹¹ which serves to help translate national objectives into business opportunities, incentives, and synergies, and encourages structured public-private capacity building (See *Private Sector Advisory Board*).
- 3. Increased policy consultation and engagement between private and public sector decision makers helps to improve the private sectors' disaster risk preparedness and promotes climate-sensitive investments.
- 4. National institutional arrangements include mechanisms for increasing the ability of the private sector to access appropriate and relevant international investment and development assistance enabling the private sector to leverage support to co-finance investments which support Fiji's NDC commitments and development objectives.
- 5. Fiji's private sector interacts with relevant market-based mechanisms to help establish sustainable climate finance flows.

SUSTAINABLE TOURISM AND CLIMATE-RESILIENT DEVELOPMENT

The Fijian Government intends to progress policy designed to help leverage the ability of tourism operators to support the delivery of Fiji's NDC through low carbon transport and energy transitions, adaptation activities, and support to monitor and protect Fiji's natural resources and biodiversity. Fiji's climate change response will increase opportunities for the tourism sector to derive sustainable value from the protection of Fiji's biodiversity. Incentives for the tourism industry to enhance and protect natural resources will be progressed through the NAP and LEDS. Capacity building for tourism operators to help climate-sensitise their operations will be essential. Efforts to improve the environmental footprint of Fiji's tourism industry is expected to unlock significant co-benefits in terms of tourism appeal. Standardised best practice frameworks should be explored through the NAP and LEDS. Tourism operators will be incentivised to invest in low emissions infrastructure and supply chains, use local produce, implement nature-based coastal protection projects, and develop business models that help to preserve rather than disrupt social cohesion and cultural practice.

⁹¹ Refer to objective 1.1: Strategies, *Private Sector Advisory Board*.

OBJECTIVE 7.2 To establish private-public partnerships

OUTCOMES

Greater harmonisation between Fiji's development priorities, investors, and businesses facilitate long-term collaboration arrangements between the Government and businesses with specialised capacity to support initiatives that help to deliver large-scale climate-responsive programmes.

STRATEGIES

- 1. Legislation and policy is developed to support private and public sector partnerships.
- 2. Public-private partnerships are used as an innovative method for reducing procurement and implementation burdens on government.
- 3. Public-private partnerships are supported by transparent processes, robust legal accountability frameworks and safeguards, and agreements that require contributions to local capacity building.

OBJECTIVE 7.3 To create a climate-ready workforce and promote social entrepreneurship

OUTCOMES

New opportunities for individuals and businesses to support and contribute to public sector objectives^{xxv} help to formalise a sub-sector with unique capacity and access to support the delivery of Fiji's NDP, NDC, NAP, LEDS and the achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals. Fiji's workforce is able to support new business objectives and expertise requirements and is adequately prepared to benefit from new employment opportunities.

STRATEGIES

- 1. Employment standards, job creation and sector development strategies that support national climate adaptation, environmental protection, and climate mitigation priorities are promoted supporting the concept of 'Just Transition'.
- 2. Laws are enacted that recognise and establish new business types and structures incentivising the registration of SME's with business models designed to deliver positive social outcomes (*social enterprises*^{xxvi}).
- 3. Social enterprises both benefit from and help to progress national capacity-building priorities and provide a further domestically-derived and sustainable source of financing for development as well as new employment opportunities. Incentivising the development of financially self-sustainable entities which deliver positive social or environmental outcomes reduces donor reliance and these entities help to accelerate technology transfer and awareness campaigns designed to reduce risk and build national resilience.
- 4. National business groupings, awards, employment bodies, and councils encourage the development and recognition of individuals and businesses that promote, share, and champion best practice in relation to sustainability, climate-responsiveness, social and environmental protection, and the objectives of the 'Decent Work agenda' helping to progress and influence a culture of social responsibility within Fiji's private sector.
- 5. Large SME's produce, implement, and share sustainability plans and appoint focal points for climate and disaster risk issues facilitating increased communication between the public and private sector.
- 6. National education institutions help progress the development of curriculums and capacity building programs which respond to new employer competency requirements and desired skill sets further supporting the development of a *climate ready workforce*.





SECTION 4 IMPLEMENTATION



Policy Implementation Arrangements and Governance Architecture

Accountability Statement

The Fijian Government is committed to inter-governmental and society-wide accountability and responsibility for environmental protection and climate risk management. Through robust systems and frameworks for monitoring performance and progress against the objectives of the National Climate Change Policy and associated plans, the Fijian Government will ensure the nation can successfully achieve its national development ambitions and deliver national adaptation and greenhouse-gas emissions mitigation commitments under the Paris Agreement. The Government of Fiji is committed to creating appropriate legal architecture as required to expedite the efficient delivery of the strategic objectives set out by the National Climate Change Policy (2018–2030).

Improving, enhancing, and driving accountability, strategy, and collaboration is required to deliver the NCCP's objectives. Though the delivery of this policy will be overseen, coordinated, and delivered by actors across government and national sectors the following bodies and actors will have high-level oversight of the delivery of the NCCP.

Legislation

The National Climate Change Act will provide a legal anchor and further formalise the governance and oversight of the NCCP's objectives.

Oversight

National Climate Change Committee

In 2010, a 'National Climate Change Country Team' (NCCCT) was created as a result of Cabinet Decision No. 357. The role of the NCCCT was, inter alia, to serve as the main platform to provide guidance and policy advice to Government on all matters relating to climate change and disaster management. The NCCCT was subsequently renamed to the National Climate Change Coordination Committee (NCCCC). The NCCCC is comprised of the Permanent Secretaries and nominated representatives from government ministries, departments and agencies. The National Climate Change Coordination Committee functions on behalf of the Fijian Government to:

- 1. Ensure Ministerial and Department activities are aligned with relevant cross-cutting policies and frameworks, such as the National Adaptation Plan Framework and National Climate Change Policy.
- 2. Ensure the creation, implementation, and monitoring and evaluation of these cross-cutting policies.
- 3. Ensure the creation, implementation, and monitoring and evaluation of relevant sector plans. Assess own progress on integrating climate change issues into Ministerial and Department activities and report on progress.
- 4. Provide advice and assist with resolving strategic level issues and risks.
- 5. Use authority to assist the implementation of cross-government policies, frameworks, and plans to ensure aims and objectives are achieved.
- 6. Review and provide comments on the National Adaptation Plan and National Climate Change Policy document which will be ultimately submitted to Cabinet for approval.

The endorsement of the NCCP (2018) will trigger a full review of the terms of reference of the NCCCC (Objective 1.1) to ensure the functionality of this committee is updated in alignment with the principles and objectives of the new policy. Oversight of the update of the terms of reference will be managed by CCICD and a new draft submitted for endorsement by Cabinet. The revision of the NCCCC terms of reference are expected to include the following elements:

- 1. Clear guidance for interactions with the National Disaster Management Committee on issues that cross-cut the adaptation and disaster risk reduction objectives to improve the ability to coordinate resources and improve the accuracy of risk reduction reporting and planning.
- 2. Updated guidance on the role, functions, and processes for securing technical advisory support through technical working groups and consultative groups.
- 3. Clarity on the NCCCC's role in progressing NDC enhancement and NAP reporting and related processes (including processes for forming a National Adaptation Plan Steering Committee as and when required).
- 4. Guidance on the role of the NCCCC in supporting and progressing the development of climate change related legislation.
- 5. Guidance to reflect the NCCP's 'woven approach' including through specific reference to the NCCC's role in progressing private sector engagement in relation to the NCCP's objectives.
- 6. Guidance on the NCCCC approach to and oversight of and international climate diplomacy initiatives in order to ensure the NCCCC can coordinate responsibilities of relevant ministries.
- Guidance on the option to develop an independent body comprised of technical experts, civil society representatives, policy specialists, and private sector representatives to review the performance and decisions made by the NCCCC and support national and international transparency priorities through the provision of recommendations and advisory support.

National Adaptation Plan Steering Committee

A NAP steering committee, comprised of relevant sector leads will be formed at least every five years in keeping with the current duration of the NAP to guide the review of NAP progress to date, consider relevant changes to the of the current climate risk context and guide the development of a revised NAP. The steering committee will call upon relevant technical expertise to support committee meetings and will form technical working groups as needed to progress decision-making. The NAP process will form consultative groups involving government, non-government, private sector, and civil society representatives to help inform both the review of NAP progress and the development of revised actions.

The Low Emissions Development Strategy Steering Committee

The LEDS Steering Committee, which was formed for the development of the LEDS and is comprised of relevant sector leads, should be convened at least once every two years to consider the progress on the NDC and LEDS. For this purpose, the CCICD should provide a progress report to the Steering Committee once a year. A key role of the Steering Committee will be to advise when there is necessity and rational to update the LEDS.

Cabinet Committee on Climate and Disaster Risk

The Fijian Government intends to form a cabinet committee to improve high-level oversight of climate and disaster risks and national responses in accordance with objective 1.1 of this policy. This committee will support, where required, high-level inter-government policy decisions intended to advance national risk management and resilient development objectives. Ministerial oversight in this instance would provide the following benefits:

- 1. Improved high-level oversight of cross-cutting issues that require greater inter-ministerial collaboration.
- 2. The establishment of a high-level decision-making body for advancing the legislation required to anchor Fiji's climate change policy in national law.
- 3. Oversight to support an integrated approach to addressing the national risks which have potential to impact upon the delivery of the National Development Plan.
- 4. The provision of a high-level 'action-oriented' committee that can respond effectively to issues raised by the NCCCC that require cabinet endorsement.
- 5. The ability to support the NCCCC with high-level input into adaptation and mitigation prioritisation and investment processes.
- 6. A platform to progress greater high-level understanding of emerging issues that require attention and consideration on the national security agenda.

Private Sector Advisory Board

To support integration and alignment between the public and private sectors and in recognition of the need for the private sector to receive relevant, tailored and actionable information on climate change initiatives and impacts, a *Private sector advisory board* will be established (objective 1.1). This advisory board will provide a landing zone for key private sector-relevant information arising from the work of the NCCCC and create a space for developing and consulting on new private-public partnership opportunities. The advisory board would help to support existing national and regional private sector groupings through their direct representation on the board along with an agreed diversity of private sector representatives. The private sector advisory board will help to identify key issues relevant to investment and business planning and ensure that the private sector is updated in a timely fashion in relation to new initiatives, incentives, standards, regulations, and risks. The private sector advisory board will also help to support and progress new types of businesses and identify business opportunities that cross-cut climate adaptation and mitigation objectives.

Coordination

Sector and Ministry-Based Climate Change Focal Points

To improve communication, coordination, and integration of Fiji's climate change objectives across government, designated climate change focal points will be established within all government line ministries (objective 1.1). These individuals will either be existing civil servants with current obligations relevant to climate change or newly recruited specialists. These focal points should be equipped to manage strategic planning processes and cross-sectorial and intra-ministerial engagement. Clear key performance indicators for these roles should be designed by the relevant ministry with inputs from CCICD. The formalisation of climate change focal points across government will help improve information on sector-based capacity improvement opportunities. The use of external technical assistance should, where possible, continue to include knowledge transfer requirements and shadowing schemes. The use of innovative training opportunities and increased time allocations for professional development will help to support the NCCP's principle of 'integrated learning'.

Climate Change and International Cooperation Division

The 2012 NCCP called for the establishment of a 'Climate Change Unit'. This entity is based in the Ministry of Economy under the revised designation – the *Climate Change and International Cooperation Division*. The CCICD will play a central coordinating role in support of the NCCP's implementation through seven engagement areas:

- 1. Coordination of Climate Finance: CCICD will act as a conduit between donors, climate funds, and sector recipients of climate finance to help support a woven approach to proposal design, funding alignment with priorities, and efficient implementation arrangements. CCICD will be kept informed of all climate finance flows in order to support coordination, reduce duplication and ensure robust climate finance tracking. CCICD will work closely the national budget process and relevant offices within the Ministry of Finance to improve budget coding and tracking systems. CCICD will also lead on the reporting and monitoring of domestic climate finance sources such as the ECAL, Private Sector sources, and insurance initiatives. CCICD will actively oversee Fiji's engagement with the Green Climate Fund and Adaptation Fund while engaging internationally to enhance Fiji's access to sustainable climate finance flows.
- 2. Implementation Support and Reporting: CCICD is responsible for coordinating implementation and reporting associated with Fiji's NDP, LEDS, NDC and NAP commitments. CCICD will help to coordinate sector actions liaising closely with all government ministries and agencies to support the various dimensions of NCCP implementation, improve data sharing, and enhance inter/intra-ministerial cooperation. CCICD will be supported by sector-based climate change officers who will support coordination and integration objectives.
- 3. International Reporting: CCICD is responsible for Fiji reporting to the UNFCCC as well as national reporting on the SDGs ensuring transparency, integrity, and consistency of reporting. CCICD will recruit specific monitoring and evaluation expertise as required to support this remit.
- 4. **Knowledge Management:** CCICD will support climate change knowledge management through the development of communications strategies, development and maintenance of data repositories, and functions and product designed to raise government awareness of key climate change issues.
- 5. **Advisory support:** for Government ministries to support national efforts to mainstream climate change into development planning, decision making, and policy.
- 6. National Advocacy and Awareness: CCICD will work with Government Ministries to support national climate advocacy and awareness raising campaigns to support public awareness and increase the visibility of key issues. It should be specifically noted that CCICD will be required to closely with *Fiji Meteorological Services*, The National Health Emergency and Disaster Management Office, the Department of Environment, to support national risk awareness.
- 7. **International Engagement:** CCICD will play a lead role in coordinating Fiji's engagement with the UNFCCC Conference of the Parties and will be responsible for articulated national priorities at the international level.

Local and Sub-National Government

The impacts and challenges that Fiji faces are locally-derived, inconsistent and variable across the different areas of the country and local government communication with and representation of communities and their needs will be pivotal to Fiji's ability to translate the objectives of the NCCP to local outcomes. Local government entities including district offices and provincial councils play a vital role in the delivery of the NCCP's objectives at the community level. Central Government agencies will support efforts to ensure climate risks are adequately reflected in district-level and provincial plans. Climate finance initiatives will be progressed to support local government resourcing and ability to develop community-defined interventions to reduce local risks. The NAP process will promote various mechanisms and arrangements to progress local government facilitation. In many cases, the NCCP's objectives will need to be demand-driven through a bottom-up approach. Non-state actors will be engaged to support processes to enable greater self-organisation at district and community level. The below graphic represents the relationships and governance arrangements associated with key intragovernment plans such as the NCCP, NAP, LEDS. This representation provides a visualisation of linkages and is not an exhaustive depiction of Fiji's climate change legislation, noting that climate change considerations, policies and legal arrangements will be streamlined across a variety of plans and policies.



Policy Monitoring, Evaluation, Reporting, and Review

A focus on co-benefits

Addressing economic and social development priorities alongside risk reduction requirements requires a fundamental shift (change) in the overarching approach to development. The objectives of this policy can be summarised as a set of actions designed to improve national ability to *communicate, integrate, normalise, and invest in change.* These action categories (*communicating, integrating, investing, and normalising*) can be used to group the key common focus areas that inform the strategic objectives of this policy and help to shape policy monitoring frameworks.



Implementing the NCCP will require robust systems for both centralised and decentralised evaluation and reporting. The specific M+E frameworks required for the actions associated with the NAP and LEDS implementation as well as through the processes of implementing the other strategic objectives set out by the NCCP will require the development of common performance indicators and assessment criteria. To support efforts to integrate the principles of the NCCP into different areas of its implementation and delivery, the NCCP provides overarching guidance to support associated M+E processes. In recognition of the NCCP principles, monitoring and evaluation frameworks and systems should be designed to monitor:

- 1. Delivery time-frames for results in keeping with the principles of agility and urgency.
- 2. **Institutional performance and knowledge retention** in keeping with the principles of transparency and communication, integrated learning, and partnership.
- 3. **Progress made against development objectives** in keeping with the principles of *sustainable wellbeing and inclusivity* (and alignment with the SDGs and Paris Agreement reporting and review cycles).

The progress of actions associated with the delivery of the NCCP's strategic objectives should utilise the following principles and lines of questioning when designing indicators for monitoring and evaluation frameworks:

- 1. Coverage: What percentage of the target has been addressed?⁹²
- 2. Impact: What is the cumulative impact in relation to the issue addressed?
- 3. Sustainability: Is the intervention sustainable?
- 4. Replicability: Can the intervention be learned from and applied elsewhere? Would the method be used again?
- 5. Process: How was the intervention designed, prioritised, and justified?
- 6. Outcomes: What are all of the outcomes associated with the intervention both intended and unintended?
- 7. Behaviour: Is there evidence to suggest that behaviour has been altered by the intervention?
- 8. Wellbeing: Did the outcome contribute meaningfully to the improvement of welfare?
- 9. *Gender-responsive and sensitive*: Have gender-sensitive indicators and targets been used to design, implement and measure results?
- 10. *Human Rights considerations*: Have all potential human rights considerations and interactions been taken into account in the design, implementation, and evaluation of results?
- 11. Cost: How have funds been utilised? What are the expected budgetary implications to require sustainability. Have available financing sources been leveraged in a complimentary way?

Indicators and evaluation methods should also ensure that there are standardised considerations, methods, and indicators used to evaluate changes to: Adaptive capacity, Climate change-sensitivity, disaster and climate risk exposure, GHG emissions (including measures of efficiency, intensity), natural carbon sequestration potential.

The NCCP will be measured through outcomes which impact upon the following classifications of national value:

- 1. Human wellbeing and security (health, capacity, knowledge, skills, access to vital resources and services)
- 2. Natural Capital (natural resources, environmental resilience)
- 3. Social Capital (networks, behaviours)
- 4. Financial Capital (assets and finance)
- 5. Physical Capital (infrastructure)
- 6. Political Capital (trust, international partnership, influence)

The NCCP's woven approach encourages interventions aimed at producing outcomes which add value across as many different dimensions of national capital as possible.

Monitoring and Evaluation Responsibilities

Relevant sector-leads and ministries will be responsible for delivering aspects of the NCCP through their respective roles in the implementation of the NAP, NDC, NDP and SDG objectives. In each case these lead agencies will be required to communicate M+E outcomes and reports to CCICD to support national reporting processes. CCICD is responsible for collating and submitting Fiji's national reporting relating to Paris Agreement and SDG commitments to appropriate UN bodies. The reporting responsibilities of CCICD include but are not limited to:

- 1. Voluntary National Reports on SDG progress
- 2. National Communications to the UNFCCC (every 4 years)
- 3. Biennial Update Reports to UNFCCC (2 years after each national communication submission)

⁹² Coverage is especially important in relation to the range of different environments, contexts, and lifestyles found within the urban, peri-urban, coastal-rural, interior-rural, and outer islands areas of the country

- 4. Nationally Determined Contribution to the Paris Agreement: Review and enhancement of Fiji's NDC will take place every 5 years.
- 5. National Adaptation Plan: Adaptation Communications will be submitted to the UNFCCC Monitoring and evaluation processes will be implemented on an ongoing basis. Formal national reporting and reviews will be defined by the NAP's 5-year implementation cycles.
- 6. NDC Roadmap and LEDS Implementation: MRV of sector emissions conducted on an ongoing basis.
- 7. Environment and Climate Adaptation Levy (ECAL): National reporting on use of levied funds.
- 8. Green Bond: Issuance reporting to bond holders.
- Climate finance: Coordination within national budgets and with donors during the design phase of programming will receive support from CCICD. CCICD will work with the relevant offices within the Ministry of Economy to create budget coding and systems for tracking climate finance.
- 10. Other International Cooperation related reporting

The data required to support various reporting process will require improved systems for understanding and quantifying national assets and capital. In addition to the financial and physical capital, improved systems will be required to measure, evaluate and understand changes to natural, social, and human capital.

Policy Review Process

The NCCCC will conduct a mid-term review of the NCCP by 2025 to assess the NCCP's performance and effectiveness and to ensure ongoing alignment between 2030 SDG targets, NAP delivery, 2030 NDC delivery, and the objectives of the NDP.



ANNEX 1 Treaties Supported by the NCCP

The following treaties have been concluded or ratified by the Fijian Government and are related or referenced directly or indirectly by Fiji's National Climate Change policy.

- 1. Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety
- 2. Convention concerning the Protection of the World Cultural and Natural Heritage
- 3. Convention for the Safeguarding of the Intangible Cultural Heritage
- 4. Convention on Biological Diversity
- 5. Convention on the Conservation and Management of Highly Migratory Fish Stocks in the Western and Central Pacific Ocean
- 6. Convention on the Conservation of Migratory Species of Wild Animals
- 7. Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women
- 8. Convention on the High Seas
- 9. Convention on the Political Rights of Women
- 10. Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities
- 11. Convention on the Rights of the Child
- 12. Indigenous and Tribal Peoples Convention
- 13. International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination
- 14. The Kyoto Protocol
- 15. The Montreal Protocol
- 16. The Nagoya Protocol
- 17. Paris Agreement
- 18. The Ramsar Convention
- 19. United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea
- 20. United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification
- 21. United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
- 22. Vienna Convention for the Protection of the Ozone Layer
- 23. Convention on international trade in endangered species of wild Fauna and Flora
- 24. Stockholm Convention



Endnotes

- i. Social Cohesion is also a fundamental consideration for international climate negotiations under the UNFCCC. In this case, whether or not there will be global social cohesion and willingness and consensus to ambitiously address climate change and support the most vulnerable is a defining consideration and factor for developing different socio-economic projections. The representative concentration pathways (RCPs) that have been formulated by the IPCC to inform and guide international negotiations have used a range of metrics to represent differing degrees of 'collectivism' when considering different emissions scenarios and climate change projections. These exercises have asked whether or not economies, regions, and countries will be working with or against each other in the future.
- ii. Opportunities to enhance community support mechanisms and bolster civic pride in urban settings and non-traditional settings can be used to incentivise collective actions. For example, national Sport is a strong driver of social cohesion and national pride and can be used to communicate important messages at both the national and international level. Participation in national sporting events and the collegiate spirit of Fiji's sporting traditions can continue to be used to help to improve social integration and dissipate barriers between social groups.
- iii. Without a system for learning, policy processes cycle back and forth between planning and implementation without the opportunity to assess and learn from previous efforts. Dedicated budgets for monitoring and evaluation processes are required to ensure that there is a method for assessment that can help produce learning outcomes. Learning is a key enabler of the reflection and evaluation required to adapt policy in the interest of improved planning and implementation. The impact and effectiveness of policy can be undermined without a strong system and culture of practice dedicated to enhancing opportunities for learning and promoting the sharing of best practice alongside the constructive analysis of failures.
- iv. For instance, in relation to mitigation activities and the use of renewable energy, experience implementing renewable energy solutions incrementally improves over time and is perceived to be a factor in reducing the overall cost of implementation as national capacity is gradually built and reliance on external expertise drops, this concept in relation to renewable energy is referred to as the 'learning rate'
- v. Rationale: The institutional structure of most modern states is defined by the separation of the governmental mandate into sectoral divisions. This structuring has been described as the 'special interest approach' to governance (Carter, 2001). Institutional structures may not, in some cases, be designed to promote and incentivise interconnected decision making due to the required separation of issues within traditional planning and budgeting processes. This 'silo-ed' approach to sectors and risk areas often creates competition for limited resources. In Pacific island country contexts, the objectives and activities associated with disaster risk reduction, economic development, environmental conservation, climate change adaptation and mitigation agendas are highly inter-related. Maintaining separation between these agendas is often in part justified by the way in which ministerial portfolios are structured as well as by donor funding streams which tend to target specific terminologies and outcomes over others. However, it is increasingly clear that for development to be 'climate-resilient', integrated approaches and strategies are required and that such strategies will improve the long-term efficiency and effectiveness of development.
- vi. Article 5 of the Paris Agreement recognises the need to 'conserve and enhance sinks and reservoirs of greenhouse gases'. However, further articulation is required to substantiate actions to progress large scale ocean protection measures, ecosystem-based adaptation, the measurement of actions to enhance marine and coastal carbon sinks, and methods for monitoring and accounting for ocean actions within the Paris Agreement's frameworks and mechanisms including through the Global Stocktake and transparency mechanisms. The Fijian Government believes that global climate ambition must specifically demonstrate commitments to oceans and that adaptation, mitigation, ecosystem protection and restoration, and blue carbon considerations, should be included as an important element to reflect (as an additionality) in global nationally determined contributions.
- vii. Fiji has played a central role in driving the global ocean agenda. As Co-Chair of the first UN Oceans conference in New York, Fiji pressed for enhanced national commitments to revitalised global ocean health. The Fijian Government is committed to progressing ocean action during the *United Nations Decade of Oceans Science for Sustainable Development* (2021-2030) and recognises the key responsibilities, platforms, agreements, conventions, and opportunities overseen by FAO, UNEP, UNDP, UNESCO, and IMO.
- viii. To create sustainable positive outcomes for wellbeing, poverty alleviation, risk reduction, and equality, plans must specifically include treatment and recognition of the correlations, causal chains, and relationships between risk, exposure, vulnerability, inequality, and disadvantage.
- ix. The Paris Agreement recognises the important role of non-party stakeholders in the delivery of localised solutions. The NCCP through the NAP will enhance the role of sub-national government and community leadership in order to support a bottom up approach to adaptation interventions where relevant
- x. Increasing the focus of adaptation and GHG mitigation related policy on opportunities to facilitate behaviour change will is important to ensure everyday practices can be changed to suit a changing environment. New behaviour must be normalised rather than enforced
- xi. Planning and implementation methods consider social and cultural impacts, specifically reflect projected urbanisation rates, consider national population dynamics and trends, the impacts of economic growth and change, as well as climate risks, ensuring that anticipated outcomes are as sustainable and long-term as possible and suited to address changing contexts and needs

- xii. Noting that Fiji's leadership and promotion of the ocean-climate nexus and regional low carbon shipping initiatives will be enhanced by efforts to improve the policy coherence, collaboration, and political will.
- xiii. The International Civil Aviation Organisation's historic agreement on a global-market based measure to control aviation emissions was reached in October 2016. For vulnerable nations with international airlines that account for a minor proportion of global market-share such as Fiji, the priority is to ensure credible and ambitious emissions reductions are made by large international airlines. Pacific air travel is vulnerable to disruptions due to natural hazards, is directly impacted by global oil price fluctuation, and has been impacted by the strengthening of the ENSO which has resulted in stronger headwinds which have resulted in increased fuel burn.
- xiv. The Fijian Government identifies households with higher than average proportional fuel costs in relation to income and where the cost of electricity requirements exceeds 10% of cumulative household income, provides subsidies to reduce electricity costs for low income households.
- xv. Further capacity for energy investment analysis will be required to support the development of tools such as *levelised costs* of electricity production as a means to compare energy source options and guide investment decision-making.
- xvi. Transport systems and infrastructure are developed and planned using an appropriately balanced consideration of population growth projections, economic development objectives, climate adaptation considerations, and mitigation targets.
- xvii. The GHG emissions and localised pollution derived from agricultural and productive sectors, the forestry sector, land and coastal development, land-use changes, waste management practices, industrial and extractive processes, infrastructure and the built environment, and activities of the tourism sector have a substantial cumulative effect on Fiji's emissions profile alongside the energy and transport sectors which account for the majority of Fiji's cumulative national emissions. The strategies under objective 2.3 build upon strategic objective 1.2 and will be co-delivered through NAP and LEDS prioritisation processes and existing national environmental policies and plans.
- xviii. A sustainable forestry sector remains key priority for Fiji's national climate change response as by reducing unsustainable practices there will be a range of co-benefits in relation to carbon mitigation, biodiversity conservation, ecosystem service protection, livelihoods protection, adaptation capacity, food security, as well as reduced risks of hazard events such as flooding and landslides. The protection of mangroves offers a similar set of co-benefits but also include benefits for the preservation of fisheries and the marine and coastal environment. The benefits of the protection of mangroves are well understood and efforts to enhance and grow degraded mangrove environments should be implemented at scale.
- xix. Fiji's Environment and Climate Adaptation Levy (ECAL) is aligned to support climate change and environment protection initiatives and is levied through percentage tax on a range of goods, services and earnings. The ECAL provides a sustainable source of domestically derived climate finance and will help to improve consistent finance for climate action and environmental protection As of April 2018, \$110.6m FJD had been collected through the ECAL and \$106m FJD spent on a range of projects supporting disaster relief, response and recovery, metrological service upgrades, and a range of resilient development initiatives. In addition to the ECAL, the Fijian Government has also produced the *Fiji Green Bond Framework* and issued a Sovereign Green Bond (listed on the London Stock Exchange) successfully raising FJD \$100 million to finance domestic climate action and environmental protection initiatives. These initiatives will continue to be vital for financing mitigation and adaptation actions.
- xx. Improving the enabling environment for the development of innovative disaster risk financing instruments, sovereign risk transfer products, private sector insurance development, parametric-based disaster risk insurance, and social protection initiatives will help further reduce financial risks.
- xxi. Development Partners and climate funds are encouraged to align their objectives with Fiji NCCP and remove barriers which can interrupt and *sector-ise* program funding in a way that has negative implications for national policy coherence.
- xxii. Fiji is committed to ensuring national policy alignment with market-based mechanisms that promote sustainable development and adaptation outcomes, enhance global and national mitigation outcomes, and protect environmental integrity.
- xxiii. Strengthening Public Finance Management, developing budget coding systems, formalising climate finance investment targets, and economic tools such as standardised discount rates for particular types of investments, levelised cost models, and cost-benefit analysis frameworks are recommended.
- xxiv. The Fiji Business Disaster Resilience Council, the Fiji Commerce and Employers Federation, the Fiji Hotel and Tourism Association, South Pacific Tourism Organisation, Pacific Private Sector Organisation, and the Pacific Islands Forum are all important communication channels for advancing the role of the private sector in the delivery of the objectives of the NCCP through awareness, incentives, and partnerships.
- xxv. Noting Marrakech Business Action for Climate Network objectives and the outcomes of the Global Employer's Climate Action Forum hosted by the Fiji Commerce and Employers Federation (Suva, July 2018) and the concept of Just Transitions for a Green/ Blue Economy, national initiatives, policy, education opportunities, and investors are encouraged to collectively support the need to transition skill sets and business types to suit national resilience-building objectives and develop a climate-ready workforce
- xxvi. Social enterprises are defined here as independent companies which prioritise the delivery of social and environmental outcomes over profit creation and operate services which contribute to a specific societal mission or vision. Such organisations would be required to adhere to enhanced transparency requirements to ensure that outcomes are credible and can be captured in national planning and reporting.

Works Cited

Arctic Council. (2013). The Arctic Resilience Interim Report. Arctic Council.

Artic Council. (2013).

- Carter, N. (2001). The Politics of the Enviroment: Ideas, Activism, Policy. Cambridge University Press.
- Heinrich Boll Foundation Schleswig-Holstein. (2017). *The Ocean Atlas.* Heinrich Böll Foundation Schleswig-Holstein, the Heinrich Böll Foundation (national foundation), and the University of Kiel's Future Ocean Cluster of Excellence.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (2001). Climate Change 2001: Synthesis Report. IPPC.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (2014). Fifth Assessment Report.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (2018). *IPCC Special Report on 1.5C*, Summary for Policy Makers. Incheon: IPCC.
- Kimatu, J. N. (2016). Evolution of strategic interactions from the triple to quad helix innovation models for sustainable development in the era of globalization. *Journal of Innovation and Entrepreneurship*.
- Kumar, A., & et al. (2017, March). A review of multi criteria decision making (MCDM) towards sustainable renewable energy development. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Review*, 596-609.
- Lund, D. J. (2018). EBDM a Tool For Change. Suva: Invoke Consulting.
- Storlazzi, C. D., & et al. (2018, April 25). Most Atolls will be uninhabitable by the mid-21st century because of sea-level risk exacerbating wave-driven flooding. *Science Advances*, 4(4).
- Tanner, T., & Griffith-Jones, S. (2016). Financial Crises and Economic Resilience: Lessons for Disaster Risk Management and Resilience Dividends. Realising the Triple Dividend of Resilience – A New Business Case for Disaster Risk Management, 151-172.
- WMO. (2019). State of the Global Climate Report 2018. WMO.

World Energy Council. (2017). The Global Energy Trilemma. World Energy Council.





Ministry of Economy Ro Lalabalavu House 370 Victoria Parade Suva P.O Box 2212, Government Buildings, Suva, Fiji Tele: (679) 330 7011, Fax: (679) 330 0834 economyInformation@economy.gov.fj www.economy.gov.fj